# General Relativity and Modified Gravity

Dimitrios Germanis September 30, 2011

#### Abstract

In this paper we present a detailed review of the most widely accepted theory of gravity: general relativity. We review the Einstein-Hilbert action, the Einstein field equations, and we discuss the various astrophysical tests that have been performed in order to test Einstein's theory of gravity. We continue by looking at alternative formulations, such as the Palatini formalism, the Metric-Affine gravity, the Vierbein formalism, and others. We then present and analytically discuss a modification of General Relativity via the Chern-Simons gravity correction term. We formulate Chern-Simons modified gravity, and we provide a derivation of the modified field equations by embedding the 3D-CS theory into the 4D-GR. We continue by looking at the applications of the modified theory to CMB polarization, and review the various astrophysical tests that are used to test this theory. Finally, we look at f(R) theories of gravity and specifically, f(R) in the metric formalism, f(R) in the Palatini formalism, f(R) in the metric-affine formalism, and the various implications of these theories in cosmology, astrophysics, and particle physics.

# Contents

1	Inti	roduction	3
<b>2</b>	General Relativity		
	2.1	Foundations of GR	7
	2.2	Einstein's Theory of GR	16
	2.3	The Einstein-Hilbert Action	18
	2.4	Einstein's Field Equations	20
	2.5	Astrophysical Tests	23
3	Alternative Formulations 2		
	3.1	The Palatini Formalism	28
	3.2	Metric-Affine Gravity	31
	3.3	The Vierbein Formalism	34
	3.4	Other Formalisms	36
4	Chern Simons Modified Gravity 3		37
	4.1	Formulating the Theory	38
	4.2	Modified Field Equations	40
	4.3	Parity Violation in CS Modified Gravity	
	4.4	Chern-Simons Cosmology	47
	4.5	The Many Faces of Chern-Simons Gravity	56
	4.6	Astrophysical Tests	61
5	f(R) Theories of Gravity		67
	5.1	Introduction	67
	5.2	f(R) Models	69
	5.3	f(R) in The Metric Formalism	
	5.4	f(R) in The Palatini Formalism	75
	5.5	$\stackrel{\backprime}{f(R)}$ in The Metric-Affine Formalism $\ \ .$	
6	Sur	nmary-Conclusions	84

# 1 Introduction

Despite the fact that gravity is the fundamental interaction which is so much related to our everyday experience, it still remains the most mysterious and enigmatic interaction from all the others. The gravitational force is the one most easily conceived of, without any deep and sophisticated knowledge, and was the first one to be tested experimentally due to the nature and simplicity of the experiments conducted and the apparatus used [41].

Galileo Galilei was the first to introduce the pendulum and inclined planes to the study of terrestrial gravity at the end of the 16th century. Gravity played an important role in the development of Galileo's ideas about the necessity of experiment in the study of Science, which had a great impact on modern scientific thinking. However, it was not until 1665, when Isaac Newton introduced the now renowned inverse-square gravitational force law, that terrestrial gravity was actually related to celestial gravity in a single theory. Newton's theory made correct predictions for a variety of phenomena at different scales, including both terrestrial experiments and planetary motion. Newton's contribution to gravity, quite apart from his enormous contribution to physics overall, is not restricted to the expression of the inverse square law. Much attention should be paid to the conceptual basis of his gravitational theory, which incorporates two key ideas[41],[113]:

- The idea of absolute space, i.e. the view of space as a fixed, unaffected structure; a rigid arena where physical phenomena take place.
- The idea of what was later called the Weak Equivalence Principle which, expressed in the language of Newtonian theory, states that the inertial and the gravitational mass coincide.

In 1855, Urbain Le Verrier observed a 35 arc-second excess precession of Mercurys orbit and later on, in 1882, Simon Newcomb measured this precession more accurately to be 43 arc-seconds. This experimental fact was not predicted by Newton's theory. It should be noted that Le Verrier initially tried to explain the precession within the context of Newtonian gravity, attributing it to the existence of another, yet unobserved, planet whose orbit lies within that of Mercury. He was apparently influenced by the fact that examining the distortion of the planetary orbit of Uranus in 1846 had led him, and, independently, John Couch Adams, to the discovery of Neptune and the accurate prediction of its position and momenta. However, this innermost planet was never found [41], [113].

However in 1893, Ernst Mach stated what was later called by Albert Einstein's: Machs principle. This is the first constructive attack to Newton's idea of absolute space after the 18th century debate between Gottfried Wilhelm von Leibniz and Samuel Clarke (Clarke was acting as Newtons spokesman) on the same subject, known as the LeibnizClarke Correspondence. Machs idea can be considered as rather vague in its initial formulation and it was essentially brought into the mainstream of physics later on by Einstein along the following lines: Inertia originates in a kind of interaction between bodies. This is obviously in contradiction with Newton's ideas, according to which inertia was always relative to the absolute frame of space. However, there was another more clear interpretation given by Dicke: The gravitational constant should be a function of the mass distribution in the Universe. This is different from Newton's idea of the gravitational constant as being universal and unchanging. Now Newton's basic axioms have to be reconsidered [41], [113].

Newton's theory was very successful in explaining the various aspects of gravity at that time. Newton's theory is also a classical theory, and has successfully described the physical world around us therefore it can be considered as a very consistent theory, although not necessarily the most right one. The question is how consistent a theory is rather how 'right' it is. The theory was able to explain within a couple of years of its formulation all questions posed at that time[113].

But it was not until 1905, when Albert Einstein completed Special Relativity, that Newtonian gravity would have to face a serious challenge. Einstein's new theory, which managed to explain a series of phenomena related to non-gravitational physics, appeared to be incompatible with Newtonian gravity. Relative motion and all the linked concepts had gone well beyond Galileo and Newton ideas and it seemed that Special Relativity should somehow be generalised to include non-inertial frames. In 1907, Einstein introduced the equivalence between gravitation and inertia and successfully used it to predict the gravitational red-shift. Finally, in 1915, he completed the theory of General Relativity, a generalisation of Special Relativity which included gravity and any accelerated frame. The theory matched perfectly the experimental result for the precession of Mercury's orbit, as well as other experimental findings like the Lense-Thirring gravitomagnetic precession (1918) and the gravitational deflection of light by the Sun, as measured in 1919 during a Solar eclipse by Arthur Eddington. GR overthrew Newtonian gravity and continues to be up to now an extremely successful and well-accepted theory for gravitational phenomena. As mentioned before, and as often happens with physical theories, Newtonian gravity did not lose its appeal to scientists. It was realised, of course, that it is of limited validity compared to GR, but it is still sufficient for most applications related to gravity. What is more, in weak field limit of gravitational field strength and velocities, GR inevitably reduces to Newtonian gravity. Newtons equations for gravity might have been generalised and some of the axioms of his theory may have been abandoned, like the notion of an absolute frame, but some of the cornerstones of his theory still exist in the foundations of GR, the most prominent example being the Equivalence Principle, in a more suitable formulation of course[41],[113].

General Relativity together with quantum field theory are considered to be the backbones of modern physics. The theory is given in the language of differential geometry and was the first such mathematical physics theory, leading the way for other mathematical theories in physics such as the gauge theories and string theories. One of the most astonishing facts about GR is that almost after an entire century it hasn't changed at all. How spacetime behaves on macroscopic scales is best described by the Einstein's Field Equations[1]:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu}$$

where  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is the Einstein tensor,  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor and G is the Newton's constant of gravitation. It is precisely these equations that are thought to govern the expansion of the Universe, the behavior of black holes, the propagation of gravitational waves, and the formation of all structures in the Universe, from planets to stars, to galaxies and clusters/superclusters of galaxies. However, in the microscopic scales GR is not an adequate theory[1].

Even though General Relativity is a very successful theory this didn't stop alternatives being proposed. Even a little after the publication of the theory by Einstein, proposals were made in order to extend the theory, and incorporate it in a larger, more unified theory. Examples of this are the Eddington's theory of connections, Weyl's scale independent theory, and the higher dimensional theories of Kaluza and Klein[1]. There are many more proposed since then and there are several modification of GR that the reader can find in a very extended and detail review, Modified Gravity and Cosmology[1]. To mention a few, alternative theories of gravity with extra fields such as scalar-tensor theories(Brans-Dicke Theory), Einstein-Ether Theories, Bimetric Theories. We can also find higher derivative theories of gravity such as Horava-Lifschitz gravity, and Galileons[1].

Before presenting the theory of GR let us define what the theory actually means. Depending on the point of view, for cosmology GR is just the set of 10-non-linear partial PDE's, called the Einstein Fields equations. For particle physics, it refers to any dynamical theory of spin-2 fields that incorporates general covariance as general relativity, even if the field equations are different. In other words the GR refers to the theory that simultaneously exhibits general covariance, universal couplings to all matter fields, and satisfies Einstein's Field equations. Therefore any deviation from these principles is what we call modified gravity. However all proposals of modified theories respect general covariance as well as the universality of free fall.[1],[3],[33].[41],[113].

There are, however, some ambiguities involved. For example the 'matter fields' can be subjective. This is very true when we deal with exotic matter which can be used to explain the apparent late-time acceleration of the Universe. Furthermore, the Einstein's Field equations are well-known in four-dimensions. But what if we include more dimensions and then we may choose to either derive these field equations from an Einstein-Hilbert action in the higher dimensional space-time, or to the effective set of equations in four-dimensions. The above two possible definitions are not consistent and moreover we don't know whether in the EFE's we have include a cosmological constant or not. If not, then we can claim that this theory is a modified theory of gravity[1],[2],[33].

It is beyond the scope of this review to present the wide variety of modifications of GR. In this paper, however, we will present a detailed review of GR, by starting with a discussion of the main principles the theory is based on, and continuing with the Einstein-Hilbert action and the Einstein Field equations. We will also see the various astrophysical tests that have been performed so far to validate the theory. Next, we will see a very interesting modification of GR, namely Chern-Simons modified gravity, We will present the modified action, derive the modified field equations, discuss parity violation in the CS theory, and the application to CMB polarization. We will also examine the two very important consequences of parity violation, namely, cosmological and gravitational birefringence, and finally we will present the astrophysical tests for this theory. In the last chapter, we will see the verywell known f(R) theories-or actions that are a function of the Ricci scalar, either linear or non-linear. Since the literature for f(R) theories of gravity is extremely large, I have decided to present the very basics, such as a few toy models, and the f(R) in the Metric, Palatini, and Metric-Affine formalisms.

# 2 General Relativity

## 2.1 Foundations of GR

### Requirements for Validity

In order to construct a relativistic theory of gravity it is of primarily importance to establish the properties it must satisfy in order for it to be considered viable. These include foundation requirements, such as the Universality of free fall and the isotropy of space, as well as compatibility with a variety of different observations involving the propagation of light and the orbits of massive bodies. In this section we will discuss the gravitational experiments and observations that have so far been performed in these environments, and what they tell us about the theory of relativity and the principles that a theory must obey in order for it to stand a chance of being considered viable[1].

### The ABC of General Relativity

There are five principles [2] which, explicitly or explicitly, guided Einstein in his search. They are:

- 1) Mach's Principle
- 2) The Principle of Equivalence
- 3) The Principle of Covariance
- 4) The Principle of Minimal Gravitational Coupling
- 5) The Correspondence Principle

#### Mach's Principle

Mach's Principle was proposed by Mach in 1893, and the starting point of which is that there is no meaning to the concept of motion, but only to that of relative motion. For example, a body in an otherwise empty Universe cannot be said to be in motion according to Mach, since there is nothing to which the body's motion can be referred. Moreover, in a populated Universe, it is the interaction between all matter in the Universe which is the source of all inertial effects. In our Universe, the bulk of the matter resides in what is called the 'fixed stars'. Then from Mach's viewpoint, an inertial frame is a frame in some privileged state of motion relative to the average motion of

fixed stars. Hence, it is the fixed stars through their masses, distribution, and motion which determine a local inertial frame [2].

Mach's Principle can be incorporated in the following [2] three statements:

M1. The matter distribution determines the geometry

M2. If there is no matter then there is no geometry

M3. A body in an otherwise empty Universe should possess no inertial properties

### The Principle of Equivalence

Before we consider the Principle of Equivalence in GR let us consider the Principle of Equivalence in the Newtonian Theory of Gravity. According to this principle [1], [2], [3], [4], [5], [6] in the Newtonian theory:

All bodies in a given gravitational field will move in the same manner, if initial conditions are the same. In other words, in a given gravitational field, all bodies move with the same acceleration. In the absence of a gravitational field, all bodies move with the same acceleration relative a given non-inertial frame of reference. Therefore the Principle of Equivalence in the Newtonian Theory states that: locally any non-inertial frame of reference is equivalent to a certain gravitational field.

Globally, 'actual' gravitational fields can be distinguished from corresponding non-inertial frames of reference by their behavior at infinity: Gravitational fields generated by gravitational objects decay with distance. In Newton's theory the motion of a test particle is determined by the following [1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6] equation of motion:

$$m_{in}a = -m_{qr}\nabla\phi\tag{1}$$

where a is the acceleration of the test particle,  $\phi$  is the Newtonian Potential of the gravitational field,  $m_{in}$  is the inertial mass of the test particle,  $m_{gr}$  is the gravitational mass of the test particle, which is the gravitational analogue of the electric charge in the theory of Electromagnetism. The fundamental property of gravitational field, that all test particles move with the same acceleration for a given potential  $\phi$ , is explained within the frame of

Newtonian Theory just by the following [1], [2], [3], [4], [5], [6] 'coincidence.

$$\frac{m_{in}}{m_{qr}} = 1 \tag{2}$$

Above we introduced the idea of the test particle or otherwise a particle that has negligible mass in comparison with massive gravitating body that creates the gravitational field. Hence we define a gravitational test particle, to be a test particle which experiences a gravitational field but does not itself alter the field or contribute to the field.

The Principle of Equivalence has three different forms in GR, however in general it can be expressed in the following way[6]: A uniform gravitational field is equivalent to, which means is not distinguishable from, uniform acceleration. In practise this means that a person cannot feel locally the difference between the standing on the surface of a gravitating object and moving away in a rocket with the same acceleration. According to Einstein these effects are actually the same.

The important consequence of the equivalence is that any gravitational field can be eliminated in the free-falling frames of reference, which are called local inertial frames or local Galilean frames. In other words there is no experiment to distinguish between being weightless far away from gravitational objects in space and being in free-fall in a gravitational field[6].

As mentioned above the Principle of Equivalence can be defined also in the following three ways according to certain conditions that need to be satisfied[1]:

- The Weak Equivalence Principle(WEP): All uncharged, freely falling test particles follow the same trajectories, once an initial position and velocity have been prescribed.
- Einstein's Equivalence Principle(EEP): The WEP is valid, and furthermore in all freely falling frames one recovers (locally and up to tidal gravitational forces) the same laws of special relativity, independent of position and velocity.
- The Strong Equivalence Principle(SEP): The WEP is valid for massive gravitating objects as well as test particles, and in all freely falling frames one recovers (locally and up to tidal gravitational forces) the same special relativistic physics, independent of position and velocity.

Furthermore let us consider the equivalence principles and we will not assume instantly that any of these principles are valid, but will rather reflect on what can be said about them experimentally[1]. This will allows us to separate out observations that test the equivalence principles, from observations that test the different gravitational theories that obey these principles, and this is an approach pioneered by Dicke[9].

The least stringent of the equivalence principles is the WEP. The best evidence in support of the WEP still comes from Eotvos type experiments that use a torsion balance to determine the relative acceleration of two different materials toward distant astronomical bodies. In reality these materials are self-gravitating, but their mass is usually small enough enough that they can effectively be considered to be non-gravitating test particles in the gravitational field of the astrophysical body[1].

Using beryllium and titanium the tightest constraint on the relative difference in accelerations of the two bodies,  $a_1$  and  $a_2$ , is currently[1],[10]

$$\eta = 2\left|\frac{a_1 - a_2}{a_1 + a_2}\right| = (0.3 \pm 1.8) \times 10^{-13} \tag{3}$$

This is an improvement of around 4 orders of magnitude of the original results of Eotvos from 1922 [11]. It is expected that this can be improved upon by up to a further 5 orders of magnitude when space based tests of the equivalence principle are performed[1],[12]. These null results are generally considered to be a very tight constraint on the foundations of any relativistic gravitational theory if it is to be thought of as viable, that is, the WEP must be satisfied, at least up to the accuracy specified in the above equation.

let us now consider the gravitational red-shift of light. This is one of the classic tests of General Relativity, suggested by Einstein himself in 1926[1],[13]. If we accept energy momentum conservation in a closed system then it is only really a test of the WEP, and is superseded in its accuracy by the Eotvos experiment we have just discussed. The argument for this is the following[1],[9],[14]:

Consider an atom that initially has an inertial mass  $M_i$  and gravitational mass  $M_g$ . The atom starts near the ceiling of a lab of height h, in a static gravitational field of strength g, and with an energy reservoir on the lab floor beneath it. The atom emits a photon of energy E that then travels down to the lab floor, such that its energy is blue-sifted by the gravitational field to E' when it is collected by the reservoir. This process changes the the

inertial and gravitational masses of the atom to  $M'_i$  and  $M'_g$ , respectively. The atom is then lowered to the floor, a process which lowers its total energy to  $M_ggh$ . At this point, the atom re-absorbs a photon from the reservoir with energy  $E' = (M''_i - M'_i)c^2$  and is then raised to its initial position of the ceiling. This last process raises its energy by  $M''_ggh$ , where  $M''_i$  and  $M''_g$  are the inertial and gravitational masses of the atom after re-absorbing the photon. The work done in lowering and raising the atom in this way is given by  $w = (M''_g - M'_g)gh$ . Recalling that the energy gained by the photon in travelling from the lab ceiling to the lab floor is E' - E. From the principle of conservation of energy we have that  $E' - E = w = (M''_g - M'_g)gh$ . Now, if the WEP is obeyed then  $M_i = M_g$ , and the above equation becomes E' - E = E'gh. This is nothing more than the usual expression for the gravitational red-shift. Crucial here is the assumption that local position invariance is valid so both  $M_i$  and  $M_g$  are independent of where they are in the lab.

If the laws of physics are position independent, and energy is conserved, gravitational red-shift then simply tests the equivalence of gravitational and inertial masses, which is what the Eotvos experiment does to higher accuracy. Alternatively, if we make the WEP to be tightly constrained by the Eotvos experiment, then gravitational red-shift experiments can be used to gain high precision constraints of the laws of Physics[1],[15]. The gravitational red-shift effect by itself, however, does not appear to be able to distinguish between the different theories that obey the WEP and local position invariance. In Dicke's approach[9] it should therefore be considered as a test of the foundations of relativistic gravitational theories, rather than a test of the theories themselves[1].

The most stringent equivalence principle is the EEP[1]. Testing this, is a considerable more demanding task than was the case for the WEP, as one now not only has to show that different particles follow the same trajectories, but also that a whole set of relativistic laws are valid in the rest frames of these particles. Despite the difficulties involved with this, there is still compelling evidence that the EEP should also be considered valid to high accuracy[1]. The most accurate and direct of this evidence is due to the Hughes-Drever experiments[16],[17], which test the local spatial anisotropies by carefully observing the shape and spacing of atomic spectral lines. The basic idea here is to determine if any gravitational fields beyond a single rank-2 tensor are allowed to couple directly to matter fields. To see why this is of importance, let us first consider a number of point-like particles coupled to a single rank-2 tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The Lagrangian density for such a set

of particles is given[1] by:

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum \int m_I \sqrt{-g_{\mu\nu} u^{\mu} u^{\nu}} d\lambda \tag{4}$$

where  $m_I$  are the masses of the particles, and  $u^{\mu}$  is their 4-velocity measured with respect to some parameter  $\lambda$ . Using the variational principle we derive the Euler-Lagrange equations which tell us that the particles in the above equation follow geodesics of the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and Riemannian geometry tells us that at any point we can choose coordinates such that  $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$  locally. We therefore recover Special Relativity at every point[1], and the EEP is valid.

Consider the case where the matter fields couple to two rank-2 tensors then the above argument falls apart. In this case the corresponding Lagrangian density of the two particles is[1]:

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum \int [m_I \sqrt{-g_{\mu\nu} u^{\mu} u^{\nu}} + n_I \sqrt{-h_{\mu\nu} u^{\mu} u^{\nu}}] d\lambda$$
 (5)

where  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is the new metric tensor, and  $n_I$  is the coupling of each particle to that field. The particles above can now no longer be thought of as following geodesics of any one metric as the new Euler-Lagrange equations[1] are not in the form of geodesic equations. Hence we don't have Riemannian Geometry here which we can use to locally transform to the Minskowski space-time and so the EEP is violated. The relevance of this discussion for the Hughes-Drever experiments is that EEP violating couplings, such that the ones just described above, cause the types of anisotropies that these experiments constrain. In this case the 4-momentum of the test particle is given[1]by:

$$p_{\mu} = \frac{mg_{\mu\nu}u^{\nu}}{\sqrt{-g_{\alpha\beta}u^{\alpha}u^{\beta}}} + \frac{nh_{\mu\nu}u^{\nu}}{\sqrt{-h_{\alpha\beta}u^{\alpha}u^{\beta}}}$$
 (6)

and as  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and  $h_{\mu\nu}$  cannot in general be made to be simultaneously spatially isotropic, we then have that  $p_{\mu}$  is spatially isotropic, and should cause the type of shifts and broadening of spectral lines that Hughes-Drever type experiments are designed to detect[1]. The current tightest constrains are around 5 orders of magnitude tighter than the original experiments of Hughes-Drever[18],[19], and yields constraints of the order:

$$n \le 10^{-27} m \tag{7}$$

so that couplings to the second metric must be very weak in order to be observationally viable. This result strongly supports the argument that matter fields must be coupled to a single rank-2 tensor only. It then follows that particles follow geodesics of this metric, that we can recover Special Relativity at any point and hence that the EEP is valid[1].

Beyond direct experimental tests such as the Hughes-Drever-type experiments, there are also theoretical reasons to think that the EEP is valid to high accuracy. This is a conjecture attributed to Schiff, that states: 'Any complete and self-consistent gravitational theory that obeys the WEP must also obey the EEP'. It has been shown using conservation of energy that preferred frame and preferred location affects can cause violations of the WEP[14]. This goes some way toward demonstrating Schiff's conjecture, but there is as yet still no incontrovertible proof for its veracity[1].

The experiments we have just described provide very tight constraints on the WEP, the EEP, and local position invariance. It is possible to test various other aspects of relativistic gravitational theories that one may consider as 'foundational', for example the constancy of a constant of nature[20]. In our case we are interested mostly in the EEP as theories that obey the EEP are often described as being 'metric' theories of gravity, as any theory of gravity based on a differentiable manifold and a metric tensor that couples to matter, can be shown to have test particles that follow geodesics of the resulting metric space. The basics of the Riemannian geometry then tells us that at every point in the manifold there exists a tangent plane, which in cases with Lorentzian signature is taken to be Minkowski space. This allow us to recover Special Relativity at every point, up to the effects of second order derivatives in the metric, i.e tidal forces, so that the EEP is satisfied[1]. Validity of the EEP can be thought of as implying that the underlying gravitational theory should be metric one[1],[21].

### The Principle of Covariance

Lets recall the principle of Special Relativity, namely, all inertial observers are equivalent. The theory of General Relativity attempts to include non-inertial observers in order to cope with gravitation. Einstein argued that all observers, whether they are inertial or not, should be capable of discovering the laws of Physics[2]. If this was not true, then we would have little chance of discovering them since we are bounded in this planet, whose motion is

almost certainly non-inertial. Thus Einstein proposed that all observers are equivalent. Observers are tied up with their frame of reference systems or coordinate systems, so if any observer can discover the laws of Physics, then any coordinate systems should do[2].

The situation however is different in General Relativity. In Special Relativity the metric is flat and the connection integrable, hence there exists a canonical or preferred coordinate system, namely, the Minskowksi coordinate system[2]. In a curved space-time we have a Manifold with a non-flat metric and there is no canonical coordinate system. This is just another statement of the non-existence of a global non-inertial observer. It is not so much that any coordinate system will do, but rather than the theory is invariant under a coordinate transformation. Hence we can formulate the Principle of Covariance[2],[3],[4],[5],[6] that says:

The shape of all physical equations should be the same in any arbitrary frame of reference, or equivalently, the equations of physics should have tensorial form. This principle refers to the most general case of non-inertial frames, in contrast with SR which works only with inertial frames of reference. If the Covariance Principle wasn't true then the physical equations would be different in gravitational fields and inertial-frames of reference, and hence would admit different solutions. This way the equations would predict the difference between a gravitational field and a non-inertial frame of reference and so contradict the experimental data as there is no way to distinguish between a gravitational field and a non-inertial frame of reference [2], [6].

#### The Principal of Minimal Coupling

The principles we have discussed so far do not tell us how to obtain field equations of systems in General Relativity when the corresponding equations are known in Special Relativity[2]. The principle of minimal gravitational coupling is a simplicity principle that essentially says we should not add unnecessary terms in making the transition from the special to the general theory. For example, in Special Relativity the energy-momentum conservation law is given[2]by:

$$\partial_b T^{ab} = 0 \tag{8}$$

The simplest generalization of the above law in General Relativity is

$$\nabla_b T^{ab} = 0 \tag{9}$$

In other words we can say that if one wants to take into account all effects of Gravity on any local physical process, described by the corresponding equations, written in the framework of Special Relativity, one should replace all partial derivatives by covariant derivatives in these equations according to the following very simple but actually very strong 'transformation' [6]  $\partial \to \nabla$  or  $\to$ ;.

We can now formulate the Principle of Minimal Gravitational Coupling: No terms explicitly containing the curvature tensor should be added in making the transition from Special Relativity to General Relativity[2].

# The Correspondence Principle

As we stated from the outset, we are engaged with modelling, and together with any model should go its range of validity. Then any new theory must be consistent with any acceptable earlier theories within their range of validity. General Relativity must agree on the one hand with Special Relativity in the absence of gravitation and on the other hand with Newtonian gravitational theory in the limit of weak gravitational fields and low velocities in comparison with the speed of light[2].

This gives rise to the Correspondence Principle which states that: When considering the behavior of systems described by the theory of quantum mechanics or general relativity, then this behavior switches to classical mechanics for large macroscopic systems and for speeds much less than the speed of light.

The Correspondence Principle was first used by Niels Bohr back in 1913 in developing his model of the atom. However it was formulated in by Bohr in 1920 so it can be used of the modern theory of quantum mechanics.

# 2.2 Einstein's Theory of GR

Having considered the requirements that must be satisfied by a viable relativistic theory of gravity, let us now consider Einstein's Theory of General Relativity in particular. General Relativity satisfies all of the requirements described in the previous section, either by construction, with respect to the foundational requirements, or my trial in the case of tests of metric theories of gravity[1].

General Relativity is a gravitational theory that treats space-time as a four-dimensional manifold. The connection associated with covariant differentiation,  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$ , should be viewed as an additional structure on this manifold, which in general, can be decomposed into two parts: The symmetric part and the antisymmetric part, such that [1], [2], [3], [4], [5], [6]:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\mu}_{(\alpha\beta)} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{[\alpha\beta]} \tag{10}$$

In General Relativity we take the antisymmetric part of the connection  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{[\alpha\beta]}=0$  or otherwise in the language of differential geometry, we assume that the torsion vanishes. Hence we are only left with the symmetric part of the connection, which describes the curvature of the manifold[1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6]. Therefore we have:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\mu}_{(\alpha\beta)} \leftrightarrow \Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\mu}_{\beta\alpha} \tag{11}$$

To define distances on the manifold on also requires a metric tensor,  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . Along the curve  $\gamma$  this gives a measure for the distance[1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6]:

$$s = \int_{\gamma} d\lambda \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} \dot{x}^{\mu} \dot{x}^{\nu}} \tag{12}$$

where  $\lambda$  is a parameter along the curve,  $x^{\mu} = x^{\mu}(\lambda)$ , and over-dots here mean differentiation with respect to  $\lambda$ . The metric should also be considered as an additional structure on the manifold, which is in general independent of the connection. The relationship between the connection and the metric is defined via the non-metricity tensor,  $Q_{\mu\alpha\beta} \equiv \nabla_{\mu}g_{\alpha\beta}$ . In General Relativity it is assumed that the non-metricity tensor vanishes as the covariant derivative of the metric tensor vanishes, and so  $\nabla_{\mu}g_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ .

We can now use the metric to define the Levi-Chivita connection [1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6] which has components given by the Christoffel symbols:

$$\{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\} \equiv \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}(g_{\alpha\nu,\beta} + g_{\beta\nu,\alpha} - g_{\alpha\beta,\nu}) \tag{13}$$

The general form of the connection can then be shown to be given by:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\} + K^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} + L^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \tag{14}$$

where  $K^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  is the contorsion tensor[1] which can be defined in terms of the antisymmetric components of the connection as:

$$K^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \Gamma^{\mu}_{[\alpha\beta]} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{[\alpha\nu]} g^{\mu\nu} g_{\beta\rho} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{[\beta\nu]} g^{\mu\nu} g_{\alpha\rho} \tag{15}$$

and where  $L^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  is defined[50]in terms of the non-metricity tensor as:

$$L^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (Q^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} - Q^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} - Q^{\mu}_{\beta\alpha}) \tag{16}$$

As mentioned above, in General Relativity the anti-symmetric part of the connection vanishes, and so does the non-metricity tensor as it is equivalent to the covariant derivative of the metric tensor which is identically zero. This means that the  $K^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  and  $L^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}$  also vanish. Correspondingly, as a consequence of these two assumptions the components of the connection are uniquely given by the Christoffel symbols, and so the connection and all geometric quantities derived from it, are defined entirely in terms of the metric according to the following equation:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} (g_{\alpha\nu,\beta} + g_{\beta\nu,\alpha} - g_{\alpha\beta,\nu}) \tag{17}$$

The resulting set of structures, after assuming that the anti-symmetric part of the connection is zero and so does the covariant derivative of the metric tensor, is known as a Riemannian Manifold, or more accurately, pseudo-Riemannian [1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6] in the case where the metric is not positive definite, as it required to recover special relativity in the tangent space to a

point in space-time. Riemannian Manifolds have a number of useful properties including tangent vectors being parallel to themselves along geodesics, the geodesic completeness of space-time implying the metric completeness of space-time, and a particularly simple form for the contracted Bianchi Identities[1]:

$$\nabla_{\mu}(R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}R) = 0 \tag{18}$$

We will discuss the meaning of the symbols involved in the above equation in the next part of this review. However this last equation is of great significance for Einstein's Equations.

### 2.3 The Einstein-Hilbert Action

### The Principle of Least Action

As with most field theories, the Field Equations can be derived from the variation of the action. The Principle of least action states that: The actual path taken by a Conservative Dynamical System is an extremum of S. Where S is the action of the system and it is a functional, i.e a function of the path that is itself a function[22]. The action in classical dynamics is defined as:

$$S[x^{A}(t)] = \int_{t}^{T} L(x^{A}(t), \dot{x}^{A}(t))dt$$
 (19)

with t to be the initial time and T the final time. Where L is the Lagrangian of the system defined as the function of the positions  $x^A$  and velocities  $\dot{x}^A$  of all particles given by [22]:

$$L(x^{A}, \dot{x}^{A}) = T(\dot{x}^{A}) - V(x^{A})$$
(20)

where  $T = \frac{1}{2} \sum_A m_A (\dot{x}^A)^2$  is the kinetic energy and  $V(x^A)$  is the potential energy. Here we provide a Proof of the Principle of Least Action from D.Tong's web-book in Classical Dynamics[22]. Consider varying a given path slightly, such that:

$$x^{A}(t) \to x^{A}(t) + \delta x^{A}(t) \tag{21}$$

where we fix the end points of the path by demanding that  $\delta x^A(t) = \delta x^A(T) = 0$ . Then the change in the action is:

$$\delta S = \delta \int_{t}^{T} L dt = \int_{t}^{T} \delta L dt = \int_{t}^{T} \left( \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{A}} \delta x^{A} + \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}^{A}} \delta \dot{x}^{A} \right) dt \tag{22}$$

At this point we integrate the second term by parts to get:

$$\delta S = \int_{t}^{T} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{A}} - \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}^{A}}\right)\right) \delta x^{A} dt + \left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}^{A}} \delta \dot{x}^{A}\right]_{t}^{T}$$
(23)

But the last term in the above equation vanishes as we have fixed the end points such that  $\delta x^A(t) = \delta x^A(T) = 0$ . The requirement that the action is an extremum implies that  $\delta S = 0$  for all changes in the general path  $\delta x^A(t)$ . This can only happen if and only if:

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^A} - \frac{d}{dt} \left( \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}^A} \right) = 0 \tag{24}$$

The above equation is the very well-known Euler-Lagrange Equations and hence  $\delta S = 0$  if and only if the Euler-Lagrange equations hold.

### The Action in GR

We have seen that the variation of the action vanishes if and only if the Euler-Lagrange Equations hold. We can now present the Einstein-Hilbert action which if we vary, and considering the vanishing of the variation of the action as above, we obtain the Einstein's Field Equations. The Einstein-Hilbert action is given[1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6],[33]by:

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int \sqrt{-g} (R - 2\Lambda) d^4 x + \int \mathcal{L}_m(g_{\mu\nu,\psi}) d^4 x$$
 (25)

where  $\mathcal{L}_m$  is the Lagrangian density of the matter fields  $\psi$  and  $\mathcal{L}_g = \sqrt{-g} \frac{R-2\Lambda}{16\pi G}$  is the gravitational Lagrangian density, R is the Ricci curvature scalar which can be obtained by contracting the metric tensor  $g_{ab}$  with the

Ricci curvature tensor  $R_{ab}$ , such that  $R = g^{ab}R_{ab}$ , and finally  $\Lambda$  is the Cosmological Constant that represents the energy-density of the 'empty' space and sometimes called the vacuum energy.

Let us now assume that the Ricci scalar is a function of the metric only, so that R=R(g). The variation of the action with respect to the metric tensor, as we briefly discussed above, gives Einstein's Field Equations as will see in the next part. The factors of  $\sqrt{-g}$  are included in equation that describes the action to ensure that the Lagrangian densities  $\mathcal{L}$  transform as scalar densities under coordinate transformations[1] i.e as:

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}} = \det(\frac{\partial x^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}})\mathcal{L} \tag{26}$$

under coordinates transformations  $\hat{x}^{\mu} = \hat{x}^{\mu}(x^{\nu})$ . This property ensures that the action S is invariant under general coordinate transformations, and that the resulting tensor field equations are divergence free or otherwise the contracted Bianchi identities and energy-momentum conservation equations are automatically satisfied[1].

We have outlined here how Einstein's Field Equations can be obtained from the variation of an invariant action with respect to the metric, once it has been assumed that the space-time manifold is Riemannian. The vanishing of torsion and the non-metricity then tell us that the metric is the only independent structure at the manifold, and the invariant action principle ensures that we end up with a set of tensor field equations in which energy-momentum is conserved. Because of this formulation the WEP and EEP are satisfied identically. We will now see how Einstein's Field Equations look like after we have varied the action with respect to the metric tensor. The Field Equations are represented in tensorial form and more explicitly is a system of ten (10) non-linear differential equations [1],[7].

# 2.4 Einstein's Field Equations

We shall now review Einstein's Field Equations of General Relativity. It is generally accepted that GR is the most successful theory of Gravitation that when expressed mathematically produces a set of ten equations, called the Einstein's Field Equations, that describe the properties of a gravitational field surrounding a given mass. To see this we recall the geometric principle of GR, which states that gravity is nothing more than the curvature of spacetime.

All laws of nature can be expressed as a certain set of differential equations and in the same way Einstein's Field Equations are a set of ten non-linear partial differential equations. This set of equations has exact solutions for some physical problems, for example Schwarzchild and Kerr solutions that describe the final collapsed state of massive bodies, and non-exact solutions for some other physical problems, such as the gravitational fields of stationary rotating stars, and the two body problem.

We make a variation of the action with respect to the metric tensor. According to GR the Einstein's Field Equations [1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6],[7],[8] are given by the following tensor equation:

$$G_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi G}{c^4} T_{\mu\nu} \tag{27}$$

where  $G_{\mu\nu}$  the symmetric Einstein's Tensor,  $g_{\mu\nu}$  the symmetric metric tensor, G the Newton's constant of gravitation, c the speed of light,  $\Lambda$  the Cosmological Constant, and  $T_{\mu\nu}$  the stress-energy tensor. However, the Einstein's tensor is also given by the following equation:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R\tag{28}$$

with  $R_{\mu\nu}$  the Ricci Curvature tensor which can be obtained by contraction of the Riemann Curvature tensor  $R^a_{bad}$ , and R is the curvature scalar. The Riemann tensor describes an actual tidal gravitational, which is not local, and hence cannot be eliminated even in the locally inertial frame of reference. Therefore the Einstein's Field Equations are now given [1],[2],[3],[4],[5],[6],[7],[8] by:

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi G}{c^4}T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (29)

Finally using natural units where G=c=1 and claiming that the Cosmological Constant can be absorbed in the stress-energy tensor as dark energy, then the Einstein's Field Equations read as:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu} \tag{30}$$

These equations are formulated such that the energy-momentum is a conserved quantity, due to the contracted Bianchi Identity and metric-compatibility of the connection, so that special relativity can be recovered in the neighbourhood of every point in space-time, and so that the usual Newtonian Poisson Equation for weak gravitational fields is recovered in non-inertial frames kept at a fixed space-like distances from massive objects up to small corrections[1].

As we mentioned above the field equations are a set of ten generally covariant, quasi-linear second-order partial differential equations in four variables, for the ten independent components of the metric tensor. They constitute four constraint equations and six evolution equations, with the contracted Bianchi Identities ensuring that the constraint equations are always satisfied. Furthermore the conserved nature of the energy-momentum tensor  $T^{\mu\nu}$  and the Riemannian nature of the Manifold ensure that the WEP and the EEP are always satisfied, that is, Massless test particles follow geodesics, and in a freely falling frame one can always choose 'normal coordinates' so that local space-time is well described as Minskowksi space-time[1].

### The Vacuum Field Equations

The main condition in order to obtain the Vacuum Field Equations is for the energy-momentum tensor to vanish in the region of consideration. If the energy-momentum tensor is identically zero then the symmetric Einstein tensor is also zero[2] and hence:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = 0 \leftrightarrow G_{\mu\nu} = 0 \leftrightarrow R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 0 \tag{31}$$

Contracting with  $g^{\mu\nu}$  and we have that:

$$g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\mu\nu}R = 0 \leftrightarrow R - 2R = 0$$
 (32)

Hence we obtain the Vacuum Field Equations (R = 0) in the form:

$$R_{\mu\nu} = 0 \tag{33}$$

# 2.5 Astrophysical Tests

### Deflection of Light by the Sun

First of all let us consider tests involving null geodesics. The most famous of these is the spatial deflection of the star light by the sun. In General Relativity the deflection angle,  $\theta$ , of a photon's trajectory due to a mass M, with impact parameter d, is given by [1]:

$$\theta = \frac{2M}{d}(1 + \cos\phi) \approx 1.75'' \tag{34}$$

where  $\phi$  is is the angle made by the observer in the direction of the incoming photon and the direction of the mass. The first observation of light deflection was performed by noting the change in position of stars as they passed near the Sun on the celestial sphere. The observations were performed by Sir Arthur Eddington who traveled to the island of Principle near Africa to watch the Solar eclipse of May 29, 1919. According to GR, starts near the Sun would appear to have been slightly shifted because their light has been curved by its gravitational field. This effect is noticeable during an eclipse, since the Sun's brightness obscures the stars[1],[6].

The 1.75" is for a null trajectory that grazes the limb of the Sun. This result is famously twice the size of the effect that one might naively estimate using the equivalence principle alone[1],[23]. The tightest observational constraint to date on  $\theta$  is due to Shapiro, David, Lebach and Gregory who used around 2500 days worth of observations taken over a period of 20 years. The data in this study was taken using 87 VLBI sites and 541 radio sources, yielding more than  $1.7 \times 10^6$  measurements that use standard correlation and delay rate estimation procedures. The result of this[24] is around 3 orders of magnitude better than the observations of Eddington in 1919, and is given by:

$$\theta = (0.99992 \pm 0.00023) \times 1.75'' \tag{35}$$

### The Perihelion Precession of Mercury's Orbit

Let us now consider tests involving time-like trajectories. The classical test of General Relativity that falls into this category is the anomalous perihelion precession of Mercury. This called a test despite the fact that it was discovered long before GR[25]. In Newtonian Physics the perihelion of a test particle orbiting an isolated point-like mass stays in a fixed position, relative to the fixed stars . Adding other massive objects into the system perturbs this orbit, allowing the central mass to have to have a non-zero quadrupole moment, so that the perihelion of the test particle's orbit slowly starts to precess[1],[6].

There are a number of Solar System effects that cause the Perihelion of a planet to precess. As discussed above, the presence of other planets perturbs orbits, and so this is one of the main causes of this perturbations. In the Solar System the precession of the equinoxes of the coordinate system contribute about 5025" per century to Mercury's perihelion precession, while the other planets contribute about 531" per century. The sun also has a non-quadrupole moment, which contributes a further 0.025" per century. Taking all these effects into account, it still appears that the orbit of Mercury in the Solar System has an anomalous perihelion precession that cannot be explained by the available visible matter, and Newtonian gravity alone[1],[6].

The anomalous precession of the perihelion of Mercury has been calculated by many groups and a number of results are available in the paper written by S.Pireaux and J.Rozelot[26]. In relativistic theories of gravity the additional post-Newtonian gravitational potentials mean that the perihelion of a test particle orbiting an isolated mass is no longer fixed, as these potential do not drop off as  $\sim \frac{1}{r^2}$ . There is therefore an additional contribution to the perihelion precession, which is sensitive to the relative magnitude and form of the gravitational potentials, and hence the underlying relativistic theory. For General Relativity, the predicted anomalous precession of a two body-system is given by[1]:

$$\Delta\omega = \frac{6\pi M}{p} \approx 42.98'' \tag{36}$$

where M is the total mass of the two bodies, and p is the semi-latus rectum of the orbit. The above equality is for the Sun-Mercury system, and is compatible with the observations conducted by many groups and addressed in the paper by S.Pireaux and J.Rozelot[26]. Each relativistic theory predicts

its own value of  $\Delta\omega$ , and by comparing these observations we can therefore constrain them. This test is an additional one beyond those based on null geodesics alone, as it tests not only the 'unit curvature' of space, but also the non-linear terms in the space-time geometry, as well as preferred frame effects[1].

### Spinning Objects in Orbit

Another Solar System test that involves time-like geodesics is the observation of spinning objects in orbit. These observations allow insight into an entirely relativistic type of gravitational behaviour: Gravitomagnetism. This is the generation of gravitational fields by the rotation of massive objects, and was discovered in the very early days of General Relativity by Lense and Thirring[27],[28]. The basic idea here is that massive objects should 'drag' space around them as they rotate, a concept is in good keeping with Mach's Principle. Now, in the case of GR, it can be shown that the precession of a spin vector S along the trajectory of a freely-falling gyroscope in orbit around an isolated rotating massive body at rest is given by[1]:

$$\frac{dS}{d\tau} = \Omega \times S \tag{37}$$

where

$$\Omega = \frac{3}{2}v \times \nabla U - \frac{1}{2}\nabla \times g \tag{38}$$

Here we have written the vector  $g = g_{0i}$ , and have taken v and U to be the velocity of the gyroscope and the Newtonian potential at the gyroscope respectively. The term  $\frac{3}{2}v \times \nabla U$  is called the 'geodesic precession', and it is caused by the 'unit curvature' of the space. This effect exists independent of the massive bodies rotation. The other term in the same equation,  $\frac{1}{2}\nabla \times g$ , is the Lense-Thirring term, and causes the frame-dragging discussed above. The most accurate measurement of this effect claimed so far is at the level of 5% - 10% accuracy, and has been made using the Laser-Geodynamics Satellites(LAGEOS)[29], although there has been some dispute on this result[30]. The Gravity Probe B mission is a more tailor made experiment which was put in orbit around the Earth between April 2004 and September 2005. The current accuracy of results from this mission are at

the level of  $\sim 15\%[31]$ , although this could improve further after additional analysis is performed.

#### Gravitational Redshift

The gravitational redshift was predicted by Einstein in 1907 and confirmed by Pound and Rebka in 1959. They measured the relative redshift of two sources situated at the top and bottom of Harvard University's Jefferson tower. The result was in excellent agreement with GR. The gravitational redshift was again verified by Pound and Snider in 1964 and 1965 by experiments concerning nuclear resonance and gamma radiation.

The term 'gravitational redshift' applies to electromagnetic radiation that has been sifted towards the red part of the spectrum as its wavelength has been increased and hence its energy has been decreased. In other words, photons climb out of a gravity well, and this is due to the fact that they have to transfer kinetic energy into potential energy. An analogous situation is the projectile that slows down when it rises as it has to convert kinetic to potential energy. However, in our case the speed of photons remain constant and as the photons climb out of the gravitational energy well, they have to reduce their energy by keeping their speed constant. The only way of achieving this is by reducing their frequency and hence increasing their wavelength. On the other hand when photons fall into a gravitational field they convert some of their potential energy into kinetic energy and hence they are bluesifted as their wavelength decrease.

### Gravitational Waves and Binary Pulsars

A generic prediction of all known theories of gravity is the existence of gravitational waves, which are nothing more than propagating gravitational disturbances in the metric itself[1],[6]. A weak gravitational field is a small perturbation of the Galilean metric  $\eta_{ij}$ 

$$g_{ij} = \eta_{ij} + h_{ij} \tag{39}$$

The gravitational wave is a transverse and traceless part  $h_{ij}$  of these perturbations and the plane wave has two independent states of linear po-

larization[6]. According to Einstein's Field Equations in empty space-time  $R_{ij} = 0$ , and hence it can be shown that the gravitational waves satisfy the wave equation:

$$(\nabla^2 - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}) h_{ij} = 0 \tag{40}$$

While all known relativistic gravitational theories predict gravitational radiation, they do not all predict the same type of radiation as the quadrupolar, null radiation in GR. It is therefore the case that while the mere existence of gravitational radiation is not itself enough to effectively discriminate between different gravitational theories, the type of gravitational radiation that is observed, is. Briefly, one can test the speed of propagation of the gravitational waves, and a second more discriminatory test, is of the polarity of gravitational radiation[1].

At present, the highest accuracy null-observations of gravitational radiation are those of the Laser Interferometer Gravitational-wave Observatory (LIGO). The experiment has accuracy of detecting oscillations in space at a level of  $\sim 1$  part in  $10^{21}$ , but yet has to make a positive detection. Further experiments are planned for the future using both LIGO and LISA, where positive detections of gravitational waves are expected[1].

Another way to search for gravitational waves is to look for their influence on the systems that emitted them. In this regard binary pulsars are of particular interest. Pulsars are rapidly rotating neutron stars that emit a beam of electromagnetic radiation, and was first observed in 1967[32]. When the beams pass over the Earth, as the star rotates, we observe regular pulses of of radiation. The first binary pulsar PRS B1913+16 was first observed in 1974 by Russell Hulse and Joseph Taylor (1974) at Arecibo. A binary pulsar is a pulsar with a companion, often another pulsar, white dwarf or neutron star. In the above case the famous system consists of a pulsar and a neutron star. This binary system, for example, exhibits a relativistic periastron advance that is more than 30,000 times that of Mercury-Sun system. In this regard the binary pulsars provide an important compliment to the observations of post-Newtonian gravity that we observe in the solar system. Also they are a source of gravitational waves. The binary pulsars allow us to test GR in the case of a strong gravitational field, and as discussed above, the system experiences periastron advance hence the radiation is red-shifted and the orbital period decreases with time due to the gravitational radiation. Finally, neutron stars are composed of a type of matter that is of particular interest for the study of self-gravitational effects [1], [6].

# 3 Alternative Formulations

In the previous section we derived Einstein's Field Equations under the assumption of Riemannian Geometry, i.e assuming that the torsion vanishes and that the connection is metric compatible. In this case the metric is the only remaining geometric structure, and the only sensible thing to do is to vary the action with respect to the metric. However, we can be less restrictive in specifying the type of geometry we wish to consider. For the case of the Einstein-Hilbert Action, this usually still leads to the Einstein Field Equations. For alternative theories of Gravity this is often not the case as different variational procedures and different assumptions about the geometric structures of the manifold can lead to different field equations. We will now see a few alternative formulations but for a wide range of them is covered in [34].

### 3.1 The Palatini Formalism

The most well-known deviation from the metric variation approach is the Palatini procedure [1], [34], [35], [36]. Recall that when varying the Einstein-Hilbert Action, in order to derive the Field Equations, the usual approach as we have seen so far, is to vary the action with respect to the metric, after assuming that the connection depends only on the metric and the covariant derivative of the metric vanishes. This is sometimes called the Metric approach, in contrast with the Palatini approach, where one assumes that the metric and the connection are independent of each other. Although this method is generally attributed to Palatini [36], Ferraris et al (1982) argued that the Palatini approach as we know it, was in fact invented by Einstein in 1925 [38].

Therefore here the connection that appears in the Riemann tensor is no longer metric compatible, but the matter is still taken to couple universally to the metric only. In the Palatini action, the metric and the connection, are considered to be two independent dynamical variables, producing two sets of Euler-Lagrange Equations. One set of equations is the Einstein Field Equations, and the other set of equations ensures that the connection is metric compatible, and therefore equals the Levi-Civita connection[1],[35],[38]. The Einstein-Hilbert Action is a function of the metric only, where the Palatini Action is a function of both the metric and the connection, and hence it can be varied with respect to both of them. As we discussed above, by varying the Palatini Action with respect to the metric[1],[35],[38] we arrive to the conclu-

sion that the connection is indeed the Levi-Civita connection. On the other hand, when we vary the action with respect to the connection[1],[35],[38] we obtain the Einstein's Field Equations. For the Palatini approach the following are assume to hold when considering this formalism:

$$\nabla_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} \neq 0 \tag{41}$$

since the connection is not metric compatible then its components are no longer given by the Christoffel Symbols

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \neq \left\{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\right\} \tag{42}$$

in addition the curvature tensor does not have all the symmetries of the Riemann tensor, in particular:

$$\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\nu\lambda} \neq \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\lambda} \tag{43}$$

Having discussed all the relevant issues regarding the Palatini formalism we can now write the Palatini action, which as discussed above, depends both in the metric and the affine connection[1],[34],[35],[36],[37],[38]

$$S_{pal} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int \sqrt{-g} (g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu}(\Gamma) - 2\Lambda) d^4x + \int \mathcal{L}_m(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi) d^4x$$
 (44)

where  $R_{\mu\nu}(\Gamma)$  is intended to indicate that the Ricci tensor here is defined with respect to the connection, and not the metric, at this stage the metric and the connection are still two independent dynamical variables. The utility of the Palatini procedure when dealing with the Einstein-Hilbert action is then that the metric compatibility of the connection is derived from the action itself and so becomes a prediction of the theory, rather than being made an assumption at the beginning. For theories of gravity other than General Relativity, however, the difference between the metric variation and the Palatini procedure is more significant: The resulting field equations are in general different[1],[35],[36],[37],[38].

### The Field Equations

In the matter action there can be covariant derivatives and the only way to avoid having a matter action independent of the connection  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  is to assume that is the Levi-Civita connection of the metric that is used for the definition of the covariant derivative. Again, we should stress once more that the underlying geometry is Pseudo-Riemannian. It is also worth noticing that this make our choice for the gravitational action even more ad hoc as now the scalar R would not be related to the curvature of space-time from a geometrical perspective [41].

As discussed above, the Palatini variation is an independent variation with respect to the metric and the connection. The easiest way to proceed with the independent variation is to express the  $\Gamma's$ , as a sum of the Levi-Chivita connection of the metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and the tensor field  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}[41],[42]$ . Variation with respect to the  $\Gamma's$  will then be equivalent to the variation of  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ . On the boundary both the metric tensor and the C-tensor are fixed and hence by varying the action with respect to the connection we obtain from the principle of least action[41],[42]:

$$0 = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} [(-2)g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{[\mu} \delta C^{\lambda}_{\lambda]\nu} + (C^{\nu\sigma}_{\sigma} \delta^{\mu}_{\lambda} + C^{\sigma}_{\sigma\lambda} g^{\mu\nu} - 2C^{\nu\mu}_{\lambda}) \delta C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} (R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} - 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}) \delta g^{\mu\nu}$$
(45)

The first term in the above equation is a surface term. However this time the term  $\delta C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}=0$  on the boundary as  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  is fixed there. Coming back to the above equation and considering that the independent variations with respect to the metric and with respect to  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  should vanish separately, we can see that requiring the second term to vanish corresponds to:

$$C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = 0 \tag{46}$$

or otherwise we have that:

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\} \tag{47}$$

so we have shown that the  $\Gamma's$  have to be the Levi-Civita connection of the metric. Therefore in the end, after we have varied the action, we still

recover Einstein's Field Equations in the form:  $G_{\mu\nu}=8\pi T_{\mu\nu}$ . Concluding, we have assumed that the connection is not immediately regarded to be metric compatible and we have shown that the connection is indeed the Levi-Civita connection. Given this fact, we can now conclude that R is indeed the usual Ricci curvature tensor. We have, however, assumed that initially this wasn't the case and R was not really related the the curvature of space-time from a geometric perspective. We note, that the inclusion of the cosmological constant to the gravitational part of the action reveals the standard Einstein Field Equations with a non-vanishing cosmological constant. Similarly, if we don't take into account the cosmological constant and set  $\Lambda=0$  then we end up with the same Field Equations but without the cosmological constant [41].

It should be stressed that  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\}$  is now a dynamical equation or otherwise a prediction of this theory, and therefore not an assumption. Hence the Palatini formalism leads to General Relativity without the metricity condition being an external assumption. However there are problems associated with our choice for the action as the physical meaning of the independent connection is obscure, since it is not present in the matter action and it is not the one defining parallel transport Alternatively we can allow  $G^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  to be present in the matter action and to define the covariant derivative. However, even if we start from the same action the resulting theory will not be General Relativity[41].

# 3.2 Metric-Affine Gravity

Metric affine theories of gravity provide an interesting alternative to General Relativity due to the fact that in such theories the metric and affine connection are independent quantities, as in the case of the Palatini Formalism, and furthermore the action should include covariant derivatives of the matter fields, with the covariant derivative naturally defined using the independent connection. As a result, in metric-affine theories a direct coupling between matter and connection is also present[1],[39],[40].

Besides the standard motivation for alternatives theories of gravity, from High Energy Physics and Cosmology, metric-affine gravity has one more appealing characteristic: the connection can be left to be non-symmetric and the theory then can include torsion. This implies, that the theory can be coupled in a more natural way to matter fields, such as Fermions[41]. We note that the stress-energy tensor of the Dirac Field is not symmetric by definition and this is something that poses an extra difficulty when we attempt to couple such field to General Relativity. In fact, one might expect that at some intermediate or high energies, the spin of particles may interact with the geometry and torsion can naturally arise. Unlike General Relativity, metric-affine gravity allows for this to happen[41].

There are a number of early works in which the metric and the parallel transport defining connection, are considered as being, to some degree, independent (see [41] and references therein). In many cases, including Einstein-Cartan Theory, some part of the connection is related to the metric as we have seen so far, the non-metricity tensor. Here we will consider the case where  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  is left completely unconstrained and is determined by the field equations. This approach was first considered in [39].

### General Set-Up for Metric-Affine Theories

We start by defining the covariant derivative of the connection  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}$  acting on a tensor

$$\nabla_{\mu}A^{\nu}_{\ \sigma} = \partial_{\mu}A^{\nu}_{\ \sigma} + \Gamma^{\nu}_{\ \alpha\mu}A^{\alpha}_{\ \sigma} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \sigma\mu}A^{\nu}_{\ \alpha} \tag{48}$$

It is important to stress that the position of indices must be taken very carefully into account since in this case the connection is not assumed to be symmetric. The antisymmetric part of the connection is commonly known as the Cartan-Torsion tensor, which vanishes in the theory of General Relativity, is given by:

$$S^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\mu}_{[\alpha\beta]} \tag{49}$$

The failure of the connection to covariantly conserve the metric is measured by the non-metricity tensor as we have already seen in the Einstein's theory of General Relativity. The non-metricity tensor  $Q_{\mu\alpha\beta}$  vanishes in GR and so does the covariant derivative of the metric tensor. The non-metricity tensor and the metric tensor are related via the equation:

$$Q_{\mu\alpha\beta} = \nabla_{\mu} g_{\alpha\beta} \tag{50}$$

Using the connection we can construct the Riemann tensor, which we have seen before, and it is of great significance as it describes an actual

tidal gravitational field, and is a function of the connection and the partial derivatives of the connection, given by:

$$R^{\mu}_{\nu\sigma\lambda} = -\partial_{\lambda}\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\sigma}\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\sigma\sigma}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\lambda} - \Gamma^{\mu}_{\sigma\lambda}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\sigma} \tag{51}$$

Because of the limited symmetries of the Riemann tensor in metric-affine theories of gravity, we can now express the Riemann tensor in an alternative form[40]:

$$R^{\sigma}_{\sigma\mu\nu} \equiv \hat{R}_{\mu\nu} = -\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\sigma\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\sigma\nu} \tag{52}$$

This tensor is called the homothetic curvature[40]. For a symmetric connection it is equal to the antisymmetric part of the  $\hat{R}_{\mu\nu}$ . The homothetic curvature is fully antisymmetric and hence when contract with the metric leads to a vanishing scalar.

As we have already discussed, in metric-affine theories of gravity the metric and connection are considered to be independent as in the case of the Palatini formalism. In this case the connection is assumed to define parallel transport and the covariant derivatives of matter fields, and hence enters the matter action[1],[40],[41]. Therefore we deal with the situation where matter fields are allowed to couple not only to the metric but also to the connection, and in that sense the action takes the form:

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int \sqrt{-g} (g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu}(\Gamma) - 2\Lambda) d^4x + \int \mathcal{L}_m(g_{\mu\nu}, \Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}, \psi) d^4x \qquad (53)$$

Without assuming anything about torsion or non-metricity we can find that a variation of the action with respect to the connection gives [1], [40]:

$$S^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} + 2\delta^{\mu}_{[\alpha}S^{\nu}_{\beta]\nu} + \delta^{\mu}_{[\alpha}Q_{\beta]} - \delta^{\mu}_{[\alpha}\hat{Q}_{\nu]\beta}^{\nu} = 8\pi G \frac{g_{\beta\nu}}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta\mathcal{L}_m}{\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\nu}}$$
(54)

with  $Q_{\mu} = \frac{1}{4}Q_{\mu\nu}^{\nu}$  and  $\hat{Q}_{\mu\alpha\beta} \equiv Q_{\mu}g_{\alpha\beta}$ . This equation can be shown to be self-inconsistent for reasonable forms of matter, as the left-hand-side is invariant under projective transformations of the form  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} \to \Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} + \lambda_{\mu}\delta^{\mu}_{\beta}$ , while there is no reason to suspect this invariance is exhibited by the matter fields[1]. Self-consistency then demands that both torsion and non-metricity to vanish leading again the the usual Einstein's Field equations when the action is varied with respect to the metric[1].

In the case of General Relativity we therefore have the lifting of a further constraint on our initial assumptions about geometry. If we allow the metric and connection to be independent, and the matter fields to couple to both the metric and the connection, then we can derive the vanishing of the torsion and non-metricity from the action itself as a set of consistency conditions. For the Einstein-Hilbert action this results in recovering the same set of field equations as with the metric and Palatini approaches. However this is not the case for alternative theories of gravity[1].

### 3.3 The Vierbein Formalism

The Lagrangian of general relativity is usually formulated using the components of the metric tensor as the basic field variables. Although the metric formulation is appropriate for pure gravity or gravity with bosons, the presence of spinors requires the introduction of a larger set of variables. These are the vierbein fields which describe local orthonormal Lorentz frames at each space-time point and with respect to which the spinors are defined [43].

We begin with a brief review of the definition and properties of vierbein fields. The latter are a set of four orthogonal vectors  $e^{\alpha}(x)$  with  $\alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3$  defined on the space-time manifold. The index  $\alpha$  labels the independent vectors, each of which also carries a coordinate index  $\mu$  in the form  $e^{\alpha}_{\mu}(x)$  when expressed in component form. The non-invertible relation between these sixteen components and the ten metric components  $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  is embodied in the equations[1],[43]:

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} e_{\mu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}} e_{\nu}{}^{\hat{\beta}} \tag{55}$$

$$\eta^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} = g^{\mu\nu} e_{\mu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}} e_{\nu}{}^{\hat{\beta}} \tag{56}$$

where indices with hats correspond to a basis in the tangent space defined by the set of contravariant vectors,  $e_{\hat{\mu}}^{\ \mu}$ , with determinant  $e = det[e_{\hat{\mu}}^{\ \mu}]$ . The inverse of  $e_{\hat{\mu}}^{\ \mu}$  is  $e_{\mu}^{\ \mu}$ , such that  $e_{\hat{\mu}}^{\ \nu}e_{\nu}^{\ \rho} = \delta_{\hat{\mu}}^{\ \rho}$ . The use of Vierbein fields as basic variables in the usual second-order form of the action principle does not yield any information apart from the usual Einstein's Field Equations, and hence we obtain immediately  $G^{\mu\nu}e_{\nu}^{\alpha} = 0$ , which when multiplied by the non-singular quantity  $e_{\alpha}^{\rho}$  gives  $G_{\rho}^{\mu} = 0[1],[43]$ .

Clearly the Vierbein fields are only determined by the metric up to an arbitrary 'label'-space rotation by the local O(3,1)Lorentz group. The redundant components of  $e^{\alpha}_{\mu}$  specify the relation between the orthonormal frame and the local coordinate system. Corresponding to the 40 components of the metric affinity are the 24 spin connection 'rotation coefficients'  $B_{\mu\alpha\beta}$  satisfying [43]:

$$\omega_{\mu\alpha\beta} = e^{\sigma}_{\alpha} e_{\beta\nu} \Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\sigma} + e_{\beta\sigma} e^{\sigma}_{\alpha,\mu} \tag{57}$$

$$\omega_{\mu\alpha\beta} = e^{\nu}_{[\alpha}(\partial_{\mu}e_{\nu\beta]} - \partial_{\nu}e_{\mu\beta]} - e_{\mu\gamma}e^{\rho}_{\beta]}\partial_{\nu}e^{\gamma}_{\rho})$$
 (58)

In the Vierbein formalism the Einstein-Hilbert action can be written as [1], [43], [44]:

$$S = \int d^4x e^{\mu}_{\hat{\alpha}} e^{\nu}_{\hat{\beta}} R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} \tag{59}$$

The spin connection  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}}$  then defines a space-time and Lorentz covariant

derivative,  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$ , as:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}v_{\nu}^{\rho} = \nabla_{\mu}v_{\nu}^{\rho} + \omega_{\mu\hat{\lambda}}^{\hat{\rho}}v_{\nu}^{\hat{\lambda}} \tag{60}$$

The curvature tensor  $R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}}$  is defined in terms of the spin connection as [50]:

$$R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} = \partial_{\mu}\omega_{\nu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} - \partial_{\nu}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\rho}}\omega_{\nu\hat{\rho}}{}^{\hat{\beta}} + \omega_{\nu}{}^{\hat{\alpha}\hat{\rho}}\omega_{\mu\hat{\rho}}{}^{\hat{\beta}}$$
(61)

Now we can make the same assumption as in the Palatini formalism and consider the spin connection and the vierbein fields to be independent. In this case we obtain two fields equation[1]:

$$\mathcal{D}_{[\mu}e^{\hat{\alpha}}_{\nu]} = 0 \tag{62}$$

$$G^{\alpha}_{\hat{\rho}} = e^{\alpha}_{\hat{\alpha}} e^{\mu}_{\hat{\rho}} e^{\nu}_{\hat{\beta}} R_{\mu\nu}^{\quad \hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2} (e^{\mu}_{\hat{\alpha}} e^{\nu}_{\hat{\beta}} R_{\mu\nu}^{\quad \hat{\alpha}\hat{\beta}}) e^{\alpha}_{\hat{\rho}} = 0$$
 (63)

The first equation can be used to obtain the spin connection in terms of the partial derivatives of the vierbein fields, and the resulting relation implies that the spin connection is torsion-less, i.e we recover the Cartan's first structure equation:  $de^{\hat{\mu}} + \omega^{\hat{\mu}}_{\hat{\nu}} \wedge e^{\hat{\nu}} = 0$ . The second equation tells us that the vacuum Einstein's Field Equations are recovered[1].

## 3.4 Other Formalisms

Another interesting formulation of General Relativity is given by the Plebanski formalism[1],[45]. The action in this case is:

$$S = \int \Sigma^{AB} \wedge R_{AB} - \frac{1}{2} \Psi_{ABCD} \Sigma^{AB} \wedge \Sigma^{CD}$$
 (64)

where upper case indices denote two component spinor indices to be raised and lowered with  $\epsilon^{AB}$  and its inverse, and where the wedge product  $\wedge$  acts on space-time indices, which have been suppressed. Further, the curvature 2-form  $R_{AB}$  is defined by[1]:

$$R_{AB} = d\omega_{AB} + \omega_A^{\ C} \wedge \omega_{CB} \tag{65}$$

If we vary the action with respect to  $\Psi_{ABCD}$  and  $\omega_{AB}$  then we get that the 2-form  $\Sigma^{AB}$  is the exterior product some set of 1-forms that we can identify with the tetrad  $\theta^{AA'}$ , and that the connection  $\omega_{AB}$  is torsion-free with respect to  $\Sigma^{AB}$ . Using this together with the variation of the action with respect to  $\Sigma^{AB}$  we obtain the vacuum field equations, with the metric given by  $g = \theta^{AA'} \otimes \theta_{AA'}$ [50].

Another interesting formulation of General Relativity is the purely affine Eddington formalism[46]. We have seen so far, in other formulations of GR, that we can treat the metric as the only independent structure on the manifold, or alternatively treat the metric and connection as being two independent structures. In the Eddington formalism we treat the connection as the only independent structure on the manifold. Here the simplest way of constructing a Lagrangian density with the correct weight, and without the metric, is to take the square root of the determinant of the Ricci tensor itself[1]:

$$S = \int \sqrt{-\det[R_{\mu\nu}(\Gamma)]} d^4x \tag{66}$$

To obtain the field equations we vary the action with respect to the connection which gives[1]:

$$\nabla_{\gamma}(\sqrt{-\det R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\mu\nu}}) = 0 \tag{67}$$

The above field equations can be shown to be equivalent to the Einstein's field equations in vacuum with a cosmological constant, taking the connection to be the Levi-Civita connection. However, due to the lack of a metric in the action of this theory it is not trivial to introduce matter fields in this theory[1].

For further reading and alternative formulations of gravity the reader should look at [34] where several formulations are analysed, including the ADM Hamiltonian, the Ashtekar Hamiltonian, the CDJ Lagrangian and others.

# 4 Chern Simons Modified Gravity

The Chern-Simons Modified Gravity is an effective extension and a four dimensional deformation of General Relativity that captures leading order, gravitational parity violation due to the parity violating correction term given by the Pontryagin density RR [33],[47],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52],[53],[54]. In this Section we will start by formulating the theory and by providing a pedagogical derivation of the Chern-Simons Modified Field Equations, embedding the three-dimensional CS Theory into the four-dimensional Theory of general Relativity [33],[47],[51],[52],[53],[54] and looking on various aspects of the theory. We will then discuss the application of CS Modified Gravity to CMB Polarization, and more specifically the parity violation in the Polarization of CMB, and Cosmological/Gravitational Birefrigence as consequences of parity-violating interactions. Finally we will review briefly the derivations from the Standard Model[33],[55],[56],[57],[58] and from String Theory[33],[59],[60][61], where the CS terms arise as anomaly-cancellation mechanisms, and we will also review the various astrophysical tests that have been performed so far to test the Chern-Simons Modified Gravity.

To have a general idea about the CS Theory of Gravity and its consequences in Cosmology, it is worth mentioning that as we will see, the CS correction induces parity violation, which in turn, creates two parity-violating mechanisms. The first is called Cosmological Birefrigence [33],[62],[63],[64],[65],[66] and it naturally arises with the addition of the CS term to the action, and the other is called Gravitational Birefrigence and is the prime candidate for the process of leptogenesis during inflation [33],[59],[67],[68]. The Standard Model is assumed to respect parity symmetry and is always symmetric under a Charge-Parity-Time or CPT transformation. However one of the major issues in Physics is the origin of parity violations in weak interactions. While we know that all other gauge interactions respect parity, it might be the case

that there is a definite handedness in cosmological scales [33]. The polarization pattern in the CMB fluctuations can leave an imprint of parity violation in the early Universe, and if parity violation can coexist on large scales, with a homogeneous and isotropic Universe then the question is how do we observe it [33],[67],[69],[70].

## 4.1 Formulating the Theory

Chern-Simons Modified Gravity is a four-dimensional deformation of General Relativity postulated by Jackiw and Pi [47]. The Modified Theory can be defined in terms of the action [33], [47]:

$$S = S_{EH} + S_{\theta} + S_{matter} + S_{CS} \tag{68}$$

The first term of the action is the Einstein-Hilbert term and is given by:

$$S_{EH} = k \int_{V} d^4x \sqrt{-g}R \tag{69}$$

The second term or the scalar field term is given by:

$$S_{\theta} = -\frac{\beta}{2} \int_{V} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} [g^{ab}(\nabla_{a}\theta)(\nabla_{b}\theta) + 2V(\theta)]$$
 (70)

The third term is an additional unspecified matter contribution given by:

$$S_{matter} = \int_{V} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_{matter}$$
 (71)

The last term is the Chern-Simons correction term given by:

$$S_{CS} = \frac{\alpha}{4} \int_{V} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g}(\theta)^{*}RR \tag{72}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{matter}$  is some matter lagrangian density that does not depend on  $\theta$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are dimensional coupling constants,  $k^{-1} = 16\pi G$ , g is the determinant of the metric,  $\nabla_a$  is the covariant derivative associated with  $g_{ab}$ , R is the Ricci Scalar given by  $R = g_{ab}R^{ab}$ , with  $R^{ab}$  the Ricci tensor, $\theta$  is not a constant but is a function of space-time acting as deformation function called the CS coupling field, and  $\mathcal{V}$  denotes the manifold where the volume integrals are carried out. The important term in the Cern-Simons correction called the Pontryagin density \*RR[33],[47],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52],[53],[54] defined as:

$$*RR = *R_b^{acd} R_{acd}^b \tag{73}$$

here  ${}^*R_b^{acd}$  is th dual Riemann Tensor [33],[47],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52],[53],[54] defined as:

$$^*R_b^{acd} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{cdef} R_{bef}^a \tag{74}$$

with  $\epsilon^{cdef}$  to be the four-dimensional Levi-Civita tensor. The Pontryagin density \*RR is proportional to the wedge product  $R \wedge R$  or the cross product in higher dimensions, but here the curvature tensor is assumed to be the Riemann Tensor. The problem that arises here is how we will determine the coupling constants, which is beyond the scope of this review. However if we leave the coupling constants unspecified so we can present generic expressions for the Modified Field Equations. If  $\theta$  is a constant then the CS Modified Gravity reduces identically to GR and this is because the Pontryagin density can be expressed as the divergence [33],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52],[53],[54]

$$\nabla_a K^a = \frac{1}{2} RR \tag{75}$$

of the Chern-Simons topological current [33],[48],[51],[52],[53],[54]

$$K^{a} = \epsilon^{abcd} \Gamma^{n}_{bm} (\partial_{c} \Gamma^{m}_{dn} + \frac{2}{3} \Gamma^{m}_{cl} \Gamma^{l}_{dn})$$
 (76)

In Eq.(76) the symbol  $\Gamma$  refers to the Christoffel connection. Using Eq.(72) for the action of the Chern-Simons term and replacing the Pontryagin density using Eq.(75) we can now integrate the Chern-Simons part of the action by parts [33],[48] to obtain the following relationship:

$$S_{CS} = \alpha(\theta K^a) - \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{V} d^4 x \sqrt{-g} (\nabla_a \theta) K^a$$
 (77)

The first term of the RHS of Eq.(77) vanishes as it is evaluated on the boundary of the manifold. The second term vanishes as well, due to the fact that the covariant derivative of  $\theta$  is zero when  $\theta = constant$ . Hence the Chern-Simons term equals to zero and we switch back to General Relativity.

## 4.2 Modified Field Equations

#### Derivation of the Modified Field Equations

Using the principle of least action[33],[47],[49] which states that in nature physical processes follow the most efficient course from one point to another, and starting with the following equations:

$$\delta R_{acd}^b = \nabla_c \delta \Gamma_{ad}^b - \nabla_d \delta \Gamma_{ac}^b \tag{78}$$

and also

$$\delta\Gamma_{ac}^{b} = \frac{1}{2}g^{bd}(\nabla_{a}\delta g_{dc} + \nabla_{c}\delta g_{ad} - \nabla_{d}\delta g_{ac})$$
 (79)

we now find that:

$$\delta S = k \int_{V} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} (R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ab}R + \frac{\alpha}{k}C_{ab} - \frac{1}{2k}T_{ab}) \delta g^{ab}$$

$$+ \int_{V} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} (\frac{\alpha}{4} RR + \beta g^{ab} \nabla_{a} \nabla_{b}\theta - \beta \frac{dV}{d\theta}) \delta \theta + \Sigma_{EH} + \Sigma_{CS} + \Sigma_{\theta}$$
 (80)

in Eq.(80) the last three contributions come from the surface terms that arise due to integration by parts,  $C_{ab}$  is the C-tensor, and the term  $T_{ab}$  is the total stress-energy tensor[33],[47] and is given by:

$$T^{ab} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \left( \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{mat}}{\delta g_{ab}} + \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\theta}}{\delta g_{ab}} \right) \tag{81}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{\theta}$  is the Lagrangian density of the scalar field action, or otherwise the integrand of Eq.(70) divided by  $\sqrt{-g}$ . Hence the total stress-energy tensor can be split into external matter contributions  $T_{mat}^{ab}$  and a scalar field contribution [33],[47] which is given by:

$$T^{ab} = \beta[(\nabla_a \theta)(\nabla_b \theta) - \frac{1}{2}g_{ab}(\nabla_a \theta)(\nabla^a \theta) - g_{ab}V(\theta)]$$
 (82)

Going back to Eq.(80) and having seen the C-tensor[33],[47],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52] which is symmetric and given by:

$$C^{ab} = v_c \epsilon^{cdea} \nabla_e R_d^b + v_{cd}^* R^{dabc} \tag{83}$$

where  $v_a = \nabla_a \theta$  and  $v_{ab} = \nabla_a \nabla_b \theta$ , are the velocity and acceleration of  $\theta$ . The vanishing of Eq.(80), or otherwise by the principle of least action  $\delta S = 0$ , leads to the modified Chern-Simons Field Equations [33],[48],[49],[50],[52] given by the following relation:

$$G_{ab} + C_{ab} = 8\pi T_{ab} \tag{84}$$

We can now see that the form of the Einstein's Field Equations is still the same apart from the new term that appears in this case, which is nothing more than the addition of the C-tensor that we discussed above. Using Eq.(28) we can get an alternative but equivalent expression for the CS Modified Field Equations:

$$R_{ab} + \frac{\alpha}{k} C_{ab} = \frac{1}{2k} (T_{ab} - \frac{1}{2} g_{ab} T)$$
 (85)

which can be derived by noting that the C-tensor is symmetric and traceless, with T to be the trace of the stress-energy tensor given by  $T = g^{ab}T_{ab}$ . In the absence of matter the stress-energy tensor vanishes in the region under consideration and the Einstein's Field Equations are referred to us as Vacuum Field Equations. In addition, in the absence of matter the Ricci Tensor  $R_{ab}$  and hence the Einstein tensor  $G_{ab}$  and the C-tensor vanish and therefore the modified field equations [33],[47]and can be written as:

$$R = -\frac{1}{2k}T = 0 (86)$$

The vanishing of the variation of the action leads to an extra equation of motion [33],[48] for the CS coupling field:

$$\beta g^{ab} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\beta} \theta = \beta \frac{dV}{d\theta} - \frac{\alpha}{4} RR \tag{87}$$

The above equation is the Klein-Gordon equation in the presence of a potential and a source term. The evolution of the CS coupling term is not only governed by its stress-energy tensor, but also from the curvature of space-time. The above equation can also be derived from the Modified CS energy-momentum equation[33] given by:

$$\nabla^a (G_{ab} + C_{ab}) = \frac{1}{2} \nabla^a T_{ab} \tag{88}$$

with the first term of the LHS of the equation to vanish by the Bianchi identities and the second term which is proportional to the Pontryagin density via [33],[48],[51],[52]

$$\nabla_a C^{ab} = -\frac{1}{8} v^{b*} RR \tag{89}$$

Then Eq.(88) is established by Eq.(87) provided that [33],[47],[72]:

$$\nabla_a T_{mat}^{ab} = 0 \tag{90}$$

This above equation is nothing more than the Strong Equivalence Principle. Alternatively, if we recall the Strong Equivalence Principle which applies to all laws of nature and is unique to Einstein's General Theory of Relativity, or more explicitly that the free-fall of an object is completely independent of its gravitational self-energy, then Eq.(88) tells us, provided that the scalar field satisfies Eq.(87), that the Strong Equivalence Principle is satisfied since matter follows geodesics determined by the conservation of the stress-energy tensor.

## 4.3 Parity Violation in CS Modified Gravity

#### **Parity Violation**

Symmetries have long played a crucial role in physics. The conservation laws The conservations laws had more fundamental roots within the symmetry of the universe. Such laws as conservation of angular momentum arise from an even more fundamental requirement: Physical laws are invariant under translation and rotation. The law of conservation of parity arose from the symmetry between the left and right hands. The question of great importance is whether nature prefers left or right and vice versa. To describe more precisely the symmetry between left and right, physicists used the word parity that originated within the framework of quantum mechanics [33],[73].

In Physics a parity transformation is the flip in the sign of one spatial coordinate, and in the case of three-dimensions is the simultaneous flip in the sign of all three spatial coordinates such that:

$$P:(x,y,z)\to(-x,-y,-z)$$
 (91)

Then parity violation can be defined as the purely spatial reflection of the triad that defines the coordinate system[33],[73]. The operation  $\hat{P}[A] = \lambda_p A$  is said to be even or parity preserving when  $\lambda_p = +1$ , while it is said to odd or parity violating when  $\lambda_p = -1$ . Hence by definition we have that  $\hat{P}[\epsilon^{ijkm}] = -\epsilon^{ijkm}$  [33]. Parity transformations are slicing dependent, discrete operations, where we must specify some space-like hyperspace on which to operate. On the other hand the combined parity and time-reversal operations is a space-like operation that is slicing independent[33].

Parity violation occurs when the rate for a particle interaction is different for the mirror image of this interaction. The electromagnetic, strong, and gravitational interactions respect parity. So parity is a good symmetry for these interactions and is said to be conserved by them. On the other hand the Weak interaction does not respect parity. This was first observed in charged current interactions, or otherwise the exchange of  $W^+$  and  $W^-$  interactions in 1956 by Madame Wu and collaborators studying the radioactive decay of isotope 60-Cobalt.

It is still unknown how parity violation arises from a unified scheme which includes all other forces, in particular gravity. In principle, the parity violation in General Relativity leads to leptogenesis by transmitting itself into Baryon-Lepton violation through primordial gravity waves. This occurs because of the gravitational Chern-Simons coupling to a pseudo-scalar field which is generated through the Green-Schwarz mechanism [33],[70]. In the Standard Model the CS correction introduces parity violation, which in turn is inspired by CP violation, therefore this is another case where we have CP violation apart from some certain types of the Weak interaction and specifically the decay of kaons. CP violation is especially intriguing, since it is believed to be the main component in order to explain the matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe. Conventional field theories such as the Standard Model, are always symmetric under a combined charge conjugation, parity, and time reversal transformation, also known as CPT.

#### The case of CS Modified Gravity

We would like to examine how the CS modification transforms under parity. General Relativity can readily be extended to have parity violation by including the Chern-Simons correction term. For homogeneous and isotropic space-times, such as the de-Sitter and FRW, this term vanishes [33],[70]. We stretch out the importance of the dependence of the CS term on the Pontryagin density \*RR that violates parity according to:

$$*RR \to -*RR$$
 (92)

As we said above for homogeneous and isotropic space-times the CS term vanishes, however this is not longer the case in the presence of a rolling pseudo-scalar field. Applying a parity transformation to the action, we find that it is invariant if and only if  $\theta$  transforms like a pseudo-scalar, or otherwise  $\hat{P}[\theta] = -\theta$  [33]. Applying such a transformation to the Modified Field Equations we find that the C-tensor is invariant if and only if the covariant velocity of  $\theta$  transforms as a vector  $\hat{P}[v_a] = +v_a$ , or equivalently if  $\theta$  is a pseudo-scalar [33].

It is worth mentioning that the properties of a solution of a theory does not necessarily have to obey the parity properties of the theory itself. As an example, Maxwell's Equations and the action do respect parity (even parity), however solutions exist where the symmetry is not respected [33]. Another example can be obtained from GR, where the theory is clearly parity-preserving, but there are solutions such as the Kerr metric and certain Bianchi models that they violate parity [33]. If we look for parity preserving solutions such as spherically symmetric line elements then  ${}^*RR = 0$  [33],[48],[49],[50],[51],[52] which forces  $\theta$  to be constant and leads to parity-even elements that are not CS corrected. On the other hand if we look at parity-violating space-times such as the Kerr metric then the Pontryagin density will source a non-trivial CS scalar, which in turn modifies the Kerr metric through the field equations. This type of corrections tends to introduce more parity violation in the solution [33].

We have shown that the addition in the action of the CS term induces parity violation, which in turn, as we will show, creates two parity-violating interactions. The first is called Cosmological Birefringence [33],[62],[63],[64],[65],[66] and it naturally arises with the addition of the CS term to the action, and the other is called Gravitational or Amplitude Birefringence and is the main candidate for leptogenesis during inflation [33],[59],[67],[68]. The mechanism of leptogenesis is based on gravity waves during inflation. When inflation is driven by a pseudo-scalar field, the metric perturbations become birefringent.

## **Evidence for Parity Violation**

As we discussed so far, the Standard Model respects parity symmetry and it is always symmetric under a CPT transformation. While we know that all gauge interactions, apart from the Weak, respect parity, it maybe the case that there is a definite handedness in cosmological scales. The evidence of parity violation can be found in the polarization of the CMB. A map of the CMB temperature and polarization could provide us with signatures of parity violation.

The polarization pattern in the CMB fluctuations can leave an imprint of parity violation in the early universe though a positive measurement of cross correlation functions that are not parity invariant. If parity violation on large scales can coexist with a homogeneous and isotropic universe, then the question is how do we observe it. So far it has been found that the direct signal would be undetectable in the most cases and parity violation sourced by a non-vanishing phase of a pseudo-scalar inflaton can provide all Sakharov conditions for leptogenesis [33],[67],[69],[70].

As we discussed parity violation in GR leads to leptogenesis by transmitting itself into a Baryon-Lepton violation through primordial gravity waves. This happens because there is gravitational Chern-Simons term coupling to a pseudo-scalar field which is generated through the Schwarz mechanism. The

Chern-Simons operator gives a contribution to the energy-momentum tensor leading to a suppression of the odd-parity modes in the power spectrum. If parity is violated during the inflationary period, the large scale, odd-parity, perturbations of the inflation field will experience a loss of power. This happens because the the gravitational back-reaction induces a velocity dependent potential for the primordial scalar fluctuations. At the same time the back-reaction will produce leptons. The power suppression will cease for large multipoles, which coincides with energy scales comparable to a massive right-handed neutrino. Parity violation in the early universe can tie together the two persistent anomalies in the CMB; loss of power and the alignment of low multipole moments along a preferred axis which has even mirror parity and called the 'Axis of Evil'. The 'Axis of Evil' corresponds to a direction in which global symmetries are broken [1],[69],[70],[74].

The major postulate of modern cosmology is the homogeneity and isotropy of our universe. However there have been a number of interesting claims of evidence for a preferred direction in the universe, making use of the first year results from the WMAP [1],[70],[74]. It has been suggested that a preferred direction in the CMB fluctuations may signal a non-trivial cosmic topology, a matter currently far from settled. However the preferred axis could also be the result of anisotropic expansion, possibly due to strings, walls, or magnetic fields, or even the result of an intrinsically inhomogeneous universe. As discussed above it has been found recently that the 'Axis of Evil' has a preferred frame in the WMAP data which is significantly aligned for multipoles l=1,2,3,4,5 which defines an overall preferred axis. But on the other hand the so-called 'Axis of Evil' could be the result of galactic foreground contamination. For example the observations of the CMB can be contaminated by diffuse foreground emission from sources such as galactic dust and synchrotron radiation [1],[70],[74].

## 4.4 Chern-Simons Cosmology

As we have seen so far the implication of adding the CS term to the action is to have parity violation which in turn creates two parity violations mechanisms, Cosmological Birefringence and Gravitational or Amplitude Birefringence. Before we discuss the above two types of Birefringence we provide a brief overview of the meaning of Birefringence in Classical Physics.

#### Birefringence in Classical Physics

In classical physics the term Birefringence or double refraction refers to the decomposition of a ray of light into two rays, the ordinary ray and the extraordinary ray, when it passes through certain types of material, such as calcite crystals  $CaCo_3$ , or boron nitrate, depending on the polarisation of light. This effect can only occur if the structure of the material is anisotropic [75], [76].

Birefringence is characteristic of a material and can be formalized by assigning two different refractive indices to the material for different polarizations. The birefringence magnitude is defined by:

$$\Delta n = n_e - n_0 \tag{93}$$

with  $n_e$  and  $n_0$  to be the refractive indices for parallel and perpendicular polarizations respectively relative to the axis of anisotropy.

#### Cosmological Birefringence

There are many galaxies that emit synchrotron electromagnetic radiation which is highly polarized. In the journey through cosmological distances, these plane-polarized waves pass through intergalactic magnetic fields and charged particles, which rotate the polarization plane of the waves via the Faraday rotation effect. However there is an additional rotation that is very different from Faraday rotation. The new rotation is wavelength-independent and depends only on the direction the wave moves through space, and more precisely on the angle between the direction of travel of the wave and a fixed direction in space. The amount of rotation is proportional also to the distance that the wave travels [65].

Cosmological birefringence is a wavelength-independent rotation by an angle  $\Delta$  of the polarization of photons as they propagate over cosmological distances, and it is constrained by the CMB to be  $|\Delta| \leq 1^{\circ}$  out to red-shifts of  $z \leq 1100$  for a rotation that is uniform across the sky. However the rotation angle  $\Delta(\theta, \phi)$  may vary as a function of position  $(\theta, \phi)$  across the sky. It has long been the subject of interest in the context of CMB where its polarization properties crucially depend on cosmological birefringence. The origin of this effect may come from either cosmic inhomogeneities or some nontrivial coupling of photons with other fields [62],[62b],[63],[64],[65],[66]. The measurement of parity violation from the CMB was first discussed by Lue, Wang, and Kamionkowski [77]. They realised that the presence of the CS term naturally leads to a rotation of the plane of polarization as a CMB photon travels to the observer [33],[77].

#### Effects of Cosmological Birefringence in CMB

The polarization of CMB can be decomposed into two modes of opposite parity. These are, E modes or gradient components, and B modes or curl components. Primordial density perturbations produce a polarization pattern that is purely E mode at the surface of last scatter, while primordial gravitational waves, such as those from inflation, produce a B mode [62],[62b]. There are at least three different types of gravitational waves: those produced during inflation and associated with the stretching of space-time modes; those produced at the violent stage of preheating after inflation; and those associated with the Goldstone modes if inflation ends via a global symmetry breaking scenario. However there maybe other mechanisms for producing B modes, apart from gravitational waves. The most widely considered is Cosmic Shear, the deflection of CMB photons due to the weak gravitational lensing by density perturbations along the line of sight will convert some of the E modes to B modes at the surface of last scatter [62],[62b].

Another possibility is the rotation of the linear polarization of the CMB as it travels from the surface of last scatter. Hence the cosmological birefringence which is driven by a scalar or quintessence field, could be responsible for converting, in the case of scalar density perturbations, scalar E-modes to vector B-modes and vice versa. In the case of tensor perturbations, such as those from gravitational waves, cosmological birefringence should mix the E and B modes [62],[62b].

#### **Derivation of The Cosmic Optical Rotation**

In order to calculate this effect, we assume a background space-time as the spatially flat FRW expanding background. On this background we will compute the cosmic optical rotation which is a measure of the Cosmological Birefringence. It is useful to take the background FRW metric[63] using conformal coordinates:

$$ds^{2} = \alpha^{2}(-d\eta^{2} + dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2})$$
(94)

where  $\eta$  is the conformal time and  $\alpha(\eta)$  the conformal scale factor. Since the electromagnetic theory is conformal invariance in four dimensions, the Maxwell's modified equations[63]coming from the non-trivial scalar field  $\phi$ are:

$$\nabla \cdot E = 2\nabla \phi \cdot E - 2\beta \nabla \phi \cdot B \tag{95}$$

$$\partial_{\eta}(E) - \nabla \times B = 2(\dot{\phi} - \nabla \phi \times B) - \beta(\dot{\phi}B + \nabla \phi \times E) \tag{96}$$

$$\nabla \cdot B = 0 \tag{97}$$

$$\partial_{\eta}B + \nabla \times E = 0 \tag{98}$$

then the wave equation for B becomes:

$$\ddot{B} - \nabla^2 B = \dot{\phi}(-2\dot{B} + 2\beta\nabla \times B) \tag{99}$$

We assume general wave solutions of the form  $B = B_0(\eta)e^{-ik\cdot x}$  and take the z-direction as the propagation direction of the electromagnetic waves. The equations for the polarization states,  $b_{\pm}(\eta) = B_{0x}(\eta) \pm iB_{0y}(\eta)$ , turn out to be:

$$\ddot{b}_{\pm} + 2\dot{\phi}\dot{b}_{\pm} + (k^2 \mp 2k\beta\dot{\phi})b_{\pm} = 0 \tag{100}$$

while the equation of motion for the scalar field is:

$$\ddot{\phi} + 2\frac{\dot{a}}{a}\dot{\phi} = \frac{e^{-2\phi}}{\omega a^2}(B^2 - E^2 + 2\beta B \cdot E)$$
 (101)

The above non-linear coupled equations are difficult to solve exactly. We therefore look for an approximation solution to the leading order in the small  $\omega$  limit. In this limit, the solution for the scalar field would be:

$$\phi = B \int \frac{d\eta}{a^2(\eta)} + C + O(\omega); \quad \dot{\phi} = \frac{B}{a^2(\eta)}$$
 (102)

where B, C are the constants of integration. We also assume the coupling constant  $\beta$  and the value of the scalar field to be very small based on the various observational constraints. From the above expressions we see that the energy-density of the scalar field is proportional to B. We therefore now that the value of this constant must be very small in order for it not to back-react to the background cosmological evolution. Since the change of  $b_{\pm}$  is expected to be small, we estimate the optical activity using the WKB method [78]. In the long wavelength limit and for small a small coupling constant  $\beta$  we assume the solution of the above equation for  $b_{\pm}$  [63]to be:

$$b_{\pm} = e^{ikS_{\pm}(\eta)}; \quad S_{\pm}(\eta) = S_{\pm}^{0} + \frac{1}{k}S_{\pm}^{1} + \dots$$
 (103)

Hence the solution based on the above anantz is:

$$S_{\pm}^{0} = \eta; \quad S_{\pm}^{1} = -\frac{1}{2}(-2i \pm 2\beta) \int \dot{\phi} d\eta$$
 (104)

Then from the above solution we can see that the equation for the optical rotation of the plane of polarization is:

$$\Delta = 2\beta \int_{\eta_i}^{\eta_f} \dot{\phi} d\eta = 2\beta |\phi(\eta_f - \phi(\eta_i))| \tag{105}$$

where  $\eta_i$  and  $\eta_f$  are the initial and final conformal time for the electromagnetic field. As expected, the leading contribution to the cosmic optical rotation comes from the Parity and Charge-Parity violating term.

#### Gravitational Birefringence

Gravitational or Amplitude Birefringence is analogous but distinct to electromagnetic birefringence. In other words, the CS modified gravity seems to prefer a specific direction, as it annihilates a certain polarization mode, and amplifies another polarization mode. We are particularly interested in the physics of the early universe and the production of gravitational waves during inflation. The mechanism of leptogenesis is based on gravity waves produced during inflation. When inflation is driven by a pseudo-scalar field the metric perturbations generated during inflation can become birefringent. We will show the main steps of the computation for the production of gravitational waves during inflation by considering the Lagrangian [68],[69] that describes gravity waves:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} M_{pl}^2 \sqrt{-|g|} R + F(\phi) R R^*$$
 (106)

where  $F(\phi)$  the inflation field,  $\phi$  the pseudo-scalar, and  $M_{pl}$  the reduced Planck mass with a value of  $M_{pl} = 2.44 \times 10^1 8 GeV$  In general metric perturbations about an FRW universe can be parameterized as:

$$ds^{2} = -(1+2\phi)dt^{2} + w_{i}dtdx^{i} + a^{2}(t)[((1+2\psi)\delta_{ij} + h_{ij})dx^{i}dx^{j}]$$
 (107)

where  $\phi$ ,  $\psi$ ,  $w_i$ ,  $h_{ij}$  parameterize respectively the scalar, vector, and tensor fluctuations of the metric. For such gravity waves which are moving in the z-direction, the metric takes the form:

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t)[(1 - h_{+})dx^{2} + (1 + h_{+})dy^{2} + 2h_{\times}dxdy + dz^{2}]$$
 (108)

where  $a(t) = e^{Ht}$  during inflation and  $h_+, h_\times$  are functions of t,z. It has been argued that CP violation is believed to be the main reason for the matter-antimatter asymmetry observed in the universe. The need for CP violation manifests itself in our model through the fact that a non-zero lepton generation can be achieved when  $< RR^* >$  is non-vanishing. The term  $RR^*$  receives a contribution with a definite sign from gravitational fluctuations produced during inflation, which is driven by a pseudo-scalar field. In other words, CP-violation arises in our model from the inflaton field  $\phi$  with a CP-odd component. To see the CP violation more explicitly, it is convenient to

use a helicity basis:

$$h_L = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(h_+ - ih_\times), \quad h_R = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(h_+ + ih_\times)$$
 (109)

Here  $h_L, h_R$  are complex conjugate scalar fields. Plugging Eq.(108) into the Eq.(106), up to the second order in  $h_L, h_R$ , we obtain [33],[68],[69] the following Lagrangian density:  $\mathcal{L} = -(h_L \circ h_R + h_R \circ h_L) + [(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} h_R \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_L - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} h_L \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_R) + a^2 (\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} h_R \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_L - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} h_L \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_R) + Ha^2 (\frac{\partial}{\partial t} h_R \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_L - \frac{\partial}{\partial t} h_L \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial z} h_R)]$ 

where  $\circ$  is the operator given by:  $\circ = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} + 3H \frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \frac{1}{a^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}$ . As it can be seen from the Lagrangian, if  $h_L, h_R$  have the same dispersion relation then  $RR^*$  vanishes. Conversely a non-zero  $RR^*$  requires gravitational birefringence during inflation. We can now obtain the equations of motion [33],[68],[69] for  $h_L, h_R$ :

$$\circ h_L = -2i \frac{\Theta}{a} \dot{h}_L'; \quad \circ h_R = +2i \frac{\Theta}{a} \dot{h}_R' \tag{110}$$

$$\Theta = \frac{4}{M_{nl}^2 a^2} \frac{d}{dt} (\dot{F}a^2) \simeq \frac{4}{M_{nl}^2} (F''\dot{\phi}^2 + 2F'H\dot{\phi})$$
 (111)

the dot denotes a time derivative and the prime denotes differentiation of F with respect to  $\phi$ . To obtain the above equations we have used the fact that the inflaton field is only a function of time t. In the second line for the expression of  $\Theta$  we have assumed a slow-roll inflation and hence we have dropped the terms proportional to  $\ddot{\phi}$ . The simplest model of this kind (slow-roll inflation) is when we have a single inflation field and the pseudo-scalar  $\phi$  as the inflaton, known as natural inflation, but it can also be incorporated to have multiple axions such as in N-inflation models. The imaginary part of this field [68], [69] (which we can call an 'axion') can couple to gravity through:

$$\Delta \mathcal{L} = F(\phi)RR^* \tag{112}$$

and  $F(\phi)$  depends linearly on  $\phi$  as:

$$F(\phi) = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{16\pi^2 M_{pl}} \phi \tag{113}$$

with  $\mathcal{N}$  depending on the details of string compactification, or the 'curling up' of extra dimensions of the theory to a very small size. So far there have been five different types of string theory, but recently it was discovered that all these are versions of the M-Theory, an eleven-dimensional theory. Coming back to our model, we can see that if  $\phi$  is constant then  $\Theta = 0$ , however if not equal to zero then this leads to an enhancement in the size of  $\Theta$ . Working out the value of  $\Theta$  we obtain [68],[69] the following relation:

$$\Theta = \frac{\sqrt{2\epsilon}}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{H}{M_{nl}}\right)^2 \mathcal{N} \tag{114}$$

where the slow-roll parameter of the inflation is given by:

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\dot{\phi}}{HM_{pl}}\right)^2 \tag{115}$$

#### Derivation of Gravitational Birefringence

In order to derive the Gravitational Birefringence we need to solve the equations of motion explicitly [68],[69]. It is convenient to introduce conformal time, which runs in opposite direction with t:

$$\eta = \frac{1}{Ha} = \frac{1}{H}e^{-Ht} \tag{116}$$

The evolution equation for  $h_L$  then is:

$$\frac{d^2}{d\eta^2}h_L - 2\frac{1}{\eta}\frac{d}{d\eta}h_L - \frac{d^2}{dz^2}h_L = -2i\Theta\frac{d^2}{d\eta dz}h_L \tag{117}$$

If we ignore  $\Theta$  and solve the above equation and let  $h_L \sim e^{ikz}$  this becomes the equation of a spherical Bessel function:

$$\frac{d^2}{d\eta^2}h_L - 2\frac{1}{\eta}\frac{d}{d\eta}h_L + k^2h_L = 0$$
 (118)

for which a positive energy solution is:

$$h_L^+(k,\eta) = e^{+ik(\eta+z)}(1-ik\eta)$$
 (119)

We now want to solve Eq.(117) and we set:

$$h_L = e^{ikz}(-ik\eta)e^{k\Theta\eta}g(\eta) \tag{120}$$

where  $g(\eta)$  is a Coulomb wave-function, and we have:

$$\frac{d^2}{d\eta^2}g + [k^2(1 - \Theta^2) - \frac{2}{\eta^2} - \frac{2k\Theta}{\eta}]g = 0$$
 (121)

The above equation is the Schrodinger's equation for a particle with l=1 in a weak Coulomb potential. When  $\Theta=0$  the Coulomb term vanishes and we get the spherical Bessel function. For  $h_L$  the Coulomb term is repulsive whereas for  $h_R$ , with the opposite sign of the  $\Theta$  term, the Coulomb potential is attractive. The plane-wave solutions can be written [77] as:

$$e^{R}_{\mu\nu}e^{\frac{2}{M_{pl}^{2}}F''\dot{\phi}^{2}kt}e^{-ikt+ikz} \tag{122}$$

$$e^{L}_{\mu\nu}e^{-\frac{2}{M_{pl}^{2}}F''\dot{\phi}^{2}kt}e^{-ikt+ikz}$$
 (123)

Where  $e_{\mu\nu}^R$ ,  $e_{\mu\nu}^L$  are the polarization tensors for right and left-handed polarized waves, respectively. Hence this leads to an attenuation of the left-handed gravitational waves and an amplification of the right-handed gravitational waves in the early universe. This effect is what we call gravitational birefringence and it can also be seen in terms of the intensity [68] of radiation in each polarized wave:

$$I_{CS}^{\pm} = I_E^{\pm} \frac{1}{(1 \pm \chi)^2} \tag{124}$$

where  $I_{CS}^{\pm}$  are intensities in two polarized waves in the modified gravity,  $I_E^{\pm}$  are intensities in Einstein's gravity, and  $\chi$  is proportional to the suppressing parameter of CS corrections. In Einstein's gravity both polarizations carry equal intensities, in contrast in CS gravity the two polarizations carry different intensities.

#### Gravity Leptogenesis

As discussed in the previous section leptogenesis is based on gravity waves during inflation. One of the greatest puzzles in astrophysics is why there is an excess of matter over antimatter in the universe, and as we have seen CP violation is the main candidate for the matter-antimatter asymmetry. We have shown that the CS modified gravity has a preferred direction with respect to the gravity waves that are produced during inflation. The recent WMAP data [33],[59],[68],[69] shows that the baryon density, expressed as baryon number over photon number, is:

$$\frac{n_b}{n_\gamma} = (6.5 \pm 0.4) \times 10^{-10} \tag{125}$$

However in the standard model such high energy cannot be found, since the best estimate [33],[59],[68],[69],[79] provides:

$$\frac{n_b}{n_\gamma} < 6 \times 10^{-27} \tag{126}$$

The conditions [33],[59],[68],[69], for generating the matter-antimatter asymmetry are the following:

- Violation of baryon number
- Charge-Parity (CP) Violation
- Violations must occur during the era of Thermal Equilibrium

In the weak interactions contain processes which convert baryons to leptons and vice-versa. They are activated at energies greater than 1 TeV. This implies that baryon asymmetry can be viewed through the creation of net lepton number at high temperature through out-of-equilibrium and CP-violating processes. Such scenario is called leptogenesis. The lepton number current  $J^{\mu}_{lepton}$  and hence the total fermion number current has a gravitational anomaly [33],[59],[68],[69] in the Standard Model through a term:

$$\partial_{\mu}J_{lepton}^{\mu} = \frac{N}{16\pi^2} RR \tag{127}$$

We can clearly see that the anomaly is proportional to the Pontryagin density and is a consequence of an imbalance between the left and right-handed leptons. Where  $N = N_L - N_R$ , and has a value of 3 in the Standard

Model. If the CS correction is non-zero during some era  $t_1 < t < t_2$  then the lepton number [59],[68],[69] is:

$$n_L = \frac{N}{16\pi^2} \int_{t_1}^{t^2} {}^*RRdt \tag{128}$$

The authors of [68],[69] calculated this integral and found and estimate for the lepton number which is in agreement with the recent WMAP data:

$$\frac{n_b}{n_\gamma} \sim 10^{-10}$$
 (129)

According to the recent WMAP observations, the scalar metric perturbations generated during inflation have a size that give off density fluctuations with  $\frac{\delta \rho}{\rho} \sim 10^{-5}$ . On the other hand if we look at Eq.(129) we can clearly see that:

$$\frac{n_b}{n_\gamma} \sim (\frac{\delta \rho}{\rho})^2 \tag{130}$$

The above result could be a simple numerical accident or there might be some underlying deeper physics.

## 4.5 The Many Faces of Chern-Simons Gravity

We will briefly discuss the natural emergence of the CS corrections in the Standard Model of Particle Physics and in String Theory, as anomaly-cancellation mechanisms for the gravitational ABJ anomaly and the Green Schwarz anomaly respectively. We will also see that the effective 4D action for type II string theory yields exactly the same equations as CS modified gravity.

#### Standard Model

The first place we encounter the CS invariant is in the gravitational anomaly of the Standard Model of Particle Physics. In the Standard Model, the CS correction introduces parity violation, which in turn is inspired by CP violation, where CS terms act as an anomaly-cancelation mechanism. In particular, CS terms are necessary to cancel mixed anomalies between anomalous and non-anomalous U(1) groups [59],[80].

An anomaly describes a quantum mechanical violation of a classically conserved current. According to Noether's theorem, invariance under a classical continuous global symmetry group G implies the conservation [33] of a global current  $j_a^A$ , with A labeling the generators of the group G:

$$\partial_a j^{aA} = 0 (131)$$

An anomaly [33] is a quantum correction to the divergence of the current such that:

$$\partial_a j^{aA} = \mathcal{A}^A \tag{132}$$

In this section we will omit the derivation of the violation of the U(1) axial current, also known as ABJ anomaly, a global anomaly in the Standard Model, and instead we will present a derivation to show how anomalies are exactly canceled with the addition of CS terms in the next section. The derivation of the ABJ can be found in [55],[56]. The equation of the ABJ anomaly [12],[13],[33] is the following:

$$\partial^a j_a^A = -\frac{1}{8\pi^2} \epsilon^{abcd} F_{ab} F_{cd} \tag{133}$$

The above equation of the ABJ anomaly also applies for the gravitational anomaly. Replacing the electromagnetic field tensor with the Riemann curvature tensor we obtain the gravitational ABJ [33] anomaly:

$$D^{a}j_{a}^{A} = -\frac{1}{384\pi^{2}} \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{abcd} R_{abef} R_{cd}^{ef}$$
 (134)

We can see that the RHS of the above equation is proportional to the Pontryagin density \*RR. The gravitational ABJ anomaly can be canceled by adding the appropriate counter term in the action, which in turn implies the addition of the CS modification in the Einstein-Hilbert action.

We now present a toy model [59],[81] that consists of a chiral gauge theory with only two U(1) groups. One is anomalous with gauge field  $A_{\mu}$  and field strength  $F_{\mu\nu}^{A}$ , the other non-anomalous with gauge field  $Y_{\mu}$  and field strength  $F_{\mu\nu}^{Y}$ . Both are merited with charge operators. Under gauge transformations:

$$A_{\mu} \to A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \epsilon; \quad Y_{\mu} \to Y_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu} \xi$$
 (135)

Using differential form notation, the one-loop effective action [59],[82] is transformed as:

$$\delta S_{one-loop} = \int d^4x \left[ \epsilon \left( \frac{1}{3} c_3 F^A \wedge F^A + c_2 F^A \wedge F^Y + c_1 F^Y \wedge F^Y \right) + \xi \left( c_2 F^A \wedge F^A + c_1 F^A \wedge F^Y \right) \right]$$

$$\tag{136}$$

where  $c_1, c_2, c_3$  are constants obtained by tracing combinations of charge operators. The classical action [83] is given by:

$$S_{axion} = \int d^4x \left[ -\frac{1}{4g_Y^2} (F^Y)^2 - \frac{1}{4g_A^2} (F^A)^2 + (d\alpha + MA)^2 + \alpha (d_3 F^A \wedge F^A + d_2 F^A \wedge F^Y + d_1 F^Y \wedge F^Y) \right]$$
(137)

where  $d_1, d_2, d_3$ , M are constants. Under a gauge transformation  $\alpha$  transforms as:

$$\alpha \to \alpha - M\epsilon \tag{138}$$

and it is assumed that  $\alpha$  does not shift under non-anomalous gauge transformations parameterized by  $\xi$ . Then, the variation of the the action S is given by:

$$\delta S_{axion} = -\int \epsilon (d_3 F^A \wedge F^A + d_2 F^A \wedge F^Y + d_1 F^Y \wedge F^Y) d^4 x \qquad (139)$$

we now re-visiting the CS action that we have seen in this review but we present it in differential form notation:

$$S_{CS} = \int Y \wedge A \wedge (d_4 F^A - d_5 F^Y) d^4 x \tag{140}$$

where  $d_4, d_5$  are constants. The variation of the CS action added to the variation of the action gives us:  $\delta S_{axion} + \delta S_{CS} = -\int \epsilon (d_3 F^A \wedge F^A + (d_2 - d_4)F^A \wedge F^Y + (d_1 + d_5)F^Y \wedge F^Y)d^4x$ 

$$-\int \xi (d_4 F^A \wedge F^A - d_5 F^Y \wedge F^A) d^4 x \tag{141}$$

Putting  $d_1 = 2c_1, d_2 = 2c_2, d_3 = \frac{1}{3}c_3, d_4 = c_2, d_5 = -c_1$  and comparing Eq.(82) and Eq.(87), we have that:

$$\delta S_{one-loop} + \delta S_{axion} + \delta S_{CS} = 0 \tag{142}$$

Hence the anomalies are exactly cancelled with the addition of the CS term and therefore the CP violation in the Standard Model naturally requires the existence of CS terms, which in turn leads to a modification of our current model of gravity.

#### String Theory

The CS correction term arises naturally in String Theory as we will see. In 10D supergravity the Green-Schwarz anomaly is cancelled by the CS correction. In fact, the slope of the expansion of the string theory yields the Einstein action as well as corrections of higher order in curvature. In order for this expansion to be ghost free, the quadratic term must be the Gauss-Bonet combination. The CS gravity term requires the presence of the Gauss-Bonet term for supersymmetry, and conversely, supersymmetrising the Gauss-Bonet term requires the CS term[59]. Starting with the effective string action for type II string theory

$$S = \int \sqrt{-g} (\frac{1}{16\pi} R - \alpha H_{abc} H^{abc} + \ldots) d^4 x$$
 (143)

where  $H_{abc}$  is the Kalb-Ramond 3-form field strength,  $\alpha$  is a constant with units of length squared, and several terms are neglected, including the Gauss-Bonet terms. In differential form notation the Kalb-Ramond field is written as:

$$H = \frac{1}{3}dB + \omega_{CS} \tag{144}$$

where B is the Kalb-Ramond 2-form field  $\omega_{CS}$  the 3-form field is the Chern-Simons term. The part of the action that involves the 2-form KR field B is:

$$S_B \propto \int (H \wedge^* H - \omega_{CS} \wedge^* \omega_{CS}) d^4 x = \int (\frac{1}{9} dB \wedge^* dB + \frac{1}{3} dB \wedge^* \omega_{CS} + \frac{1}{3} \omega_{CS} \wedge^* dB) d^4 x$$
(145)

where \* denotes the Hodge dual. Its variation in B implies the equation of motion for H:

$$d^*H = 0 \tag{146}$$

which shows that  $^*H$  is closed. Hence locally there exists a pseudoscalar b, called the Kalb-Ramond axion or universal axion, such that:

$$H = {^*db} \tag{147}$$

$$H_{abc} = \epsilon_{abc}^k \nabla_k b \tag{148}$$

Varying the action we obtain:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi [T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3} \nabla_{\alpha} (\epsilon_{\beta\gamma\delta(\mu)} [\nabla^{\beta}b] R_{\nu)}^{\alpha\gamma\delta})]$$
 (149)

where  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the stress-energy tensor corresponding to the pseudo-scalar b. Using the Bianchi Identity we can show that:

$$\nabla_{\alpha}(\epsilon_{\beta\gamma\delta(\mu}[\nabla^{\beta}b]R_{\nu)}^{\alpha\gamma\delta}) = 2C_{\mu\nu} \tag{150}$$

where  $C_{\mu\nu}$  is the Cotton-York tensor. We adjust the constants by taking  $b = \frac{3}{8\pi} f(\theta)$ , where  $f(\theta) = \frac{N}{\psi^2 m_p} \theta$ , N a dimensionless number,  $\theta$  the axion field

that controls the CS correction,  $\psi$  the string scale, and  $m_p = 2.4 \times 10^{18} GeV$  is the reduced Planck mass. Finally the previous equation becomes:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = C_{\mu\nu} + 8\pi T_{\mu\nu} \tag{151}$$

and this is exactly what we have found so far, the Modified Einstein's Field Equations under the presence of a Chern-Simons correction term. Hence in string theory the CS term arises naturally.

## 4.6 Astrophysical Tests

All tests of the Chern-Simons modified gravity have been performed with astrophysical observations and concern the non-dynamical framework[33], otherwise the framework in which the coupling constant  $\beta$  is set to zero and hence the scalar field does not evolve dynamically but it instead externally prescribed. After Alexander and Yunes[84],[85] realised that the modified theory predicts an anomalous precession effect, Smith et.al.[86] tested the non-dynamical model with canonical scalar using LAGEOS[87] and Gravity Probe B observations[88], placing the the first weak bound on the CS scalar. Then Konno et.al.[89] proposed that the CS correction could be used to explain the flat rotation curves of the galaxies, which in turn will give another constraint on the non-dynamical theory for non-canonical  $\theta$ . Recently, Yunes and Spergel[90] used double binary pulsar data to place a bound on the non-dynamical model with canonical CS scalar that is eleven orders of magnitude stronger than the Solar System one.

#### Binary Pulsar Test

Non-dynamical CS Modified Gravity has been shown to modify only the gravitomagnetic sector of the metric[1], which does not influence most astrophysical processes. This is particularly true outside the Solar System, where stars inside galaxies will have random-oriented velocities that will lead to vanishing averaged CS correction. On Cosmological scales, the CS correction is not relevant since, for example, the equations of structure formation are not corrected[33].

However some astrophysical precesses are CS corrected, such as the formation of accretion discs around protoplanetary systems. In this case and although the CS correction is non-zero[33], the measurements are difficult as the correction would be greatly suppressed by the almost negligible compactness of such systems. On the other hand, a more interesting case deals with double binary pulsars, such as the PRS JO737-3039A/B[33],[91], which consists of two rapidly rotating stars orbiting each other. The mass of typical neutron star is approximately  $1.4M\odot$  and its radius of the order of 10km, which implies a significant large compactness, and this leads to very strong gravitational fields that can be used to test GR[33],[92].

Smith et.al,[86] considered double binary pulsars and modeled their orbital evolution via a study of a compact object in the background of a rotating homogeneous sphere. The motion of this binary system is determined by the four acceleration  $\vec{a} = -4\vec{v} \times \vec{B}$ , with v the velocity of one of the pulsars and B the gravitomagnetic field of the other. To leading order in  $\dot{\theta}$  the CS correction to the gravitomagnetic field is:

$$\vec{B}_{cs} = \frac{c_0}{r} \cos \xi(r) [\vec{j} - \tan \xi(\vec{j} \times \hat{r}) - (\vec{j} \cdot \hat{r})\hat{r}]$$
 (152)

where  $\xi(r) = \frac{2kr}{\dot{\theta}\alpha}$ ,  $c_0 = \frac{15\alpha\dot{\theta}}{4kR\sin\xi(R)}$ ),  $\hat{r} = \frac{\vec{r}}{r}$ ,  $\vec{j} = \frac{\vec{J}}{R^2}$ . On the other hand the only Keplerian parameter that is CS corrected is the radial acceleration  $a_r = \vec{r} \cdot \hat{r}$ . The CS corrected radial acceletion is given by:

$$a_r^{cs} = -4c_0 \dot{u}\dot{v}[\cos i \cos \xi r + \sin i \cos u \sin \xi(r)]$$
 (153)

with i the inclination angle,  $\dot{u} = \dot{f} + \dot{\omega}$ , where  $\omega$  is the argument of the perigee and f is the true anomaly. Finally the only post-Keplerian parameter that is CS corrected to leading order is  $\dot{\omega}$ , or the rate of change of perigee, in the non-dynamical theory with canonical CS scalar and all parameters can be obtained by [93]. The CS correction to the average rate of change of the perigee is given by:

$$<\dot{\omega}>_{cs} = \frac{15J\dot{\theta}}{2a^2eR}X\sin(\frac{2kR}{\alpha\dot{\theta}})\sin(\frac{2ak}{\alpha\dot{\theta}})$$
 (154)

Yunes and Spergel[90], used the calculations obtained by M.Kramer et.al[93] to place a strong bound on the non-dynamical framework. Using the relevant system parameters of PSR J0737-3039A/B, the CS scalar was constrained to be:

$$\dot{\theta} \le 4 \times 10^{-9} km \tag{155}$$

which is 10<sup>11</sup> times stronger than the current Solar System constraints. A similar analysis in the full, strong-field dynamical formalism is still lacking and is a subject for further development.

#### Galactic Rotation Curves

A galaxy rotation curve is the plot of the orbital velocity v of star in a galaxy against their distance to the galactic centre. According to Newtonian mechanics the orbital velocity should obey a square-root fall-off  $v \propto r^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . We would expect the orbital velocity of stars to decrease as the distance from the galactic center increases according to Newton's Law, however Rubin and Ford[94],[95] found that the galaxy rotation curves flattens with distance, hence stars revolve at constant speeds over a large range of distances from the center of the galaxy. This is turn implies the existence of an additional, non-visible type of matter, or dark matter otherwise.

The only galactic study that has been carried out by Konno et.al[89], is related to the flat-rotation curves of galaxies. They have attempted to explain the flatness of rotation curves through the non-dynamical CS modified gravity with  $\alpha = -lk$  and  $\beta = 0$ , and a non-canonical CS scalar. Their result is the following:

$$u = \pm \sqrt{\frac{M}{r}} + \frac{C_2}{2} + O(J)^2 \tag{156}$$

with  $C_2$  a constant that depends on the spin angular momentum. This result is to be contrasted with the Kerr Metric, for which  $u = \sqrt{\frac{M}{r} - \frac{J}{r^2}}$ . Another solution was presented by Yunes and Pretorius in[48] for the non-dynamical formulation, which is:

$$v_{\phi} \sim \sqrt{\frac{M}{r}} - \frac{M}{r^2} \tag{157}$$

Briefly speaking, the non-dynamical framework does not suggest that either of the two solutions presented here is more or less valid than the other. The freedom of choice of the CS scalar leads to two different observables and points at an incompleteness of the framework. This observation together with the constraints of the non-dynamical framework, creates reasonable doubts

on the validity of the CS correction as an explanation of the flatness of galaxy rotation curves [33].

#### **Gravitational Wave Tests**

As we have seen the main effect of the CS correction on the propagation of gravitational waves is an amplitude or gravitational birefringence. Several tests have recently been proposed of the CS modified gravity with gravitational waves. All such tests have so far concentrated on waves generated by binary systems, where the CS correction arises due to the propagation of waves[1].

Alexander et.al,[96]have proposed a gravitational wave test of non-dynamical CS modified gravity with a generic CS scalar though the space-born gravitational wave detector LISA[97],[98],[99],[100]. The sources in mind are supermassive black hole binaries at red-shifts z < 30. In order to determine how good of a constraint LISA could place on CS modified gravity, one would have to carry out a full covariance matrix analysis, including all harmonics in the signal amplitude, since the CS correction affects precisely this amplitude[33].

One can obtain an order of magnitude estimate by making the following assumptions: First, place two GW detectors in the process of GW detection, such that one can reconstruct left and right polarised amplitudes. Second, model the noise as white, with one-sided spectral noise density  $S_0$ . Third, we focus the attention on the covariance (Fisher) matrix  $\Gamma_{ij}$  related to the parameters that affect the amplitude of the GW signal neglecting the phase parameters[101],[102].

The advantages of the LISA gravitational wave detection include a possible constraint on  $\theta$  five orders of magnitude better than the Solar System tests. A GW detection also constraints a different sector of the modified theory, since it samples the temporal evolution of the CS scalar, instead of its local value. This is because a GW detection really constraints the evolution of the CS scalar from the time of emission of the GW to its detection on earth.

Another interesting test of the CS modified gravity can be performed using gravitational waves emitted by extreme-mass ratio in-spirals or binary black hole mergers[103]. These systems sample the strong-gravitational regime

of space-time, in which the CS correction is enhanced as shown by the CS modified Kerr solution [48]. The generation of gravitational waves would then also CS modified, not only due to the corrections of the background metric, but also due to the fact that the CS scalar must carry energy-momentum away from the system. Even ignoring the latter, Sopuerta and Yunes [103] have shown that the background modifications lead to extreme and intermediate ratio in-spirals, whose waveforms are sufficiently distinct from their GR counterpart to allow for a test of the radiative sector of the dynamical theory over a few-month integration period [33].

#### Solar System Tests

The non-dynamical modified theory has been so far only through frame-dragging Solar System experiments. The non-dynamical CS modification induces anomalous precession effects. Smith et.al[86]studied the anomalous precession using the values of  $\alpha = -\frac{l}{3}$  and  $\beta = 1$ . Precession is a term that refers to the change in rotation 3-vector of a spinning object. There are two types[33] of precession that can be distinguished:

- Torque-Free
- Torque-Induced

The former corresponds to situations in which the spin angular momentum is not co-aligned with the axial Killing vector, or otherwise a vector field on the Riemannian manifold that preserves the metric[33], and the latter is also known as gyroscopic precession, occurring in situations where there is an additional torque, such as that of a gyroscope. Gyroscopic precession can be studied in the Newtonian framework but relativity adds three additional corrections[33]:

- Thomas Precession
- De-Sitter or Geodesic Precession
- Lense-Thirring Precession

Thomas precession is due to the observer's non-inertial rotating frame and is an additional Special Relativity correction. De-Sitter precession is a GR effect that accounts for Schwarchild-like deviations from flat space-time, and Lense-Thirring precession another GR correction due to the gravitomagnetic sector of the Kerr metric[33].

Consider first the motion of a test body in the external field of a CS spinning source. In such a field the test body will experience Lense-Thirring precession which will be different in CS gravity with respect to GR[104]. Smith et.al. [86], studied the secular time variation of the longitude of the ascending node  $\dot{\Omega}_{orb}$  in the non-dynamical modified theory and found that:

$$\dot{\Omega}_{obs} = \dot{\Omega}_{GR} + \dot{\Omega}_{CS} \tag{158}$$

where the GR Lense-Thirring drag is given by:

$$\dot{\Omega}_{GR} = \frac{2GJ}{\alpha^3 (1 - \epsilon^2)} \tag{159}$$

with  $\epsilon$  to be the eccentricity, J the magnitude of the spin angular momentum of the central body. The CS correction is given by:

$$\dot{\Omega}_{CS} = \frac{15\alpha^2}{R^2} j_2(m_{cs}R) y_1(m_{cs}\alpha)$$
 (160)

where  $\alpha$  is the semi-major axis, R is the earth's radius, and  $j_2, y_1$  are the spherical Bessel functions of the first and second kind. The LAGEOS experiments have measured  $\dot{\Omega}$  and found that it is in agreement with General Relativity up to an experimental error, which allows to test for a non-dynamical Chern-Simons gravity. Smith et.al.[86] estimated also the constraint on the CS scalar and found that  $\dot{\theta} \leq 3 \times 10^{-20} \mathrm{km}$ .

The next type of precession that is affected by the CS gravity is gyroscopic precession. Consider a gyroscope with spin angular momentum S in circular orbit around the Earth. The rate of change of S is geiven by [33]:

$$\dot{S}^i = 2\epsilon^{0ijk} B_j B_k \tag{161}$$

where  $B_i$  is the gravitomagnetic field. The precessional angular velocity is then given by  $\dot{\Phi} = \frac{|\dot{S}^i|}{|S^i|}$ , which is CS corrected by:

$$\frac{\dot{\Phi}_{CS}}{\dot{\Phi}_{GR}} = 15 \frac{\alpha^2}{R^2} j_2(m_{cs}R) [y_1(m_{cs}\alpha) + m_{cs}\alpha y_0(m_{cs}\alpha)]$$
 (162)

where  $\dot{\Phi}_{GR}$  is the GR prediction and R is the distance from the centre of the Earth to the gyroscope. Given an experimental verification of the Lense-Thirring effect, we could place a constraint on the CS scalar with the LAGEOS satellites. Gravity Probe B was designed to measure this effect to percentage accuracy[35] but since it was launched it faced certain difficulties that might degrade its accuracy. Smith et.al. [33] studied the studied the possibility that Gravity Probe B could place a stronger constraint than the LAGEOS satellites but this wasn't the case. The estimates of their group revealed that the CS modification in the gyroscopic precession leads to non-boundary corrections to the gravimagnetic field, a subject for further study.

# 5 f(R) Theories of Gravity

### 5.1 Introduction

General Relativity is widely accepted as a fundamental theory to describe the geometric properties of space-time. In a homogeneous and isotropic space-time the Einstein field equations give rise to the Friedmann equations that describe the evolution of the universe. In fact, the standard big-bang cosmology based on radiation and matter dominated epochs can be well described within the framework of General Relativity[112].

However, the rapid development of observational cosmology which started from 1990s shows that the universe has undergone two phases of cosmic acceleration. The first one is called inflation which is believed to have occurred prior to the radiation domination. This phase is required not only to solve the flatness and horizon problems plagued in big-bang cosmology, but also to explain a nearly flat spectrum of temperature anisotropies observed in Cosmic Microwave Background. The second accelerating phase has started after the matter domination. The unknown component giving rise to this late time cosmic acceleration is called dark energy. The existence of dark energy has been confirmed by a number of observations such as supernovae Ia,large-scale structure, baryon acoustic oscillations [112].

These two phases of cosmic acceleration cannot be explained by the presence of standard matter whose equation of state  $w = \frac{P}{p}$  satisfies the condition  $w \geq 0$ . Here P and p are the pressure and the energy density of matter, respectively. In fact, we further require some component of negative pressure, with w < -1/3, to realize the acceleration of the universe. The cosmological constant  $\Lambda$  is the simplest candidate of dark energy, which corresponds to w = -1. However, if the cosmological constant originates from a vacuum energy of particle physics, its energy scale is too large to be compatible with the dark energy density. Hence we need to find some mechanism to obtain a small value of  $\Lambda$  consistent with observations. Since the accelerated expansion in the very early universe needs to end to connect to the radiation-dominated universe, the pure cosmological constant is not responsible for inflation. A scalar field with a slowly varying potential can be a candidate for inflation as well as for dark energy[1],[41],[111],[112].

Although many scalar-field potentials for inflation have been constructed in the framework of string theory and super-gravity, the CMB observations still do not show particular evidence to favor one of such models. This situation is also similar in the context of dark energythere is a degeneracy as for the potential of the scalar field or quintessence field due to the observational degeneracy to the dark energy equation of state around w = -1. Moreover it is generally difficult to construct viable quintessence potentials motivated from particle physics because the field mass responsible for cosmic acceleration today is very small[112].

While scalar-field models of inflation and dark energy correspond to a modification of the energy-momentum tensor in Einstein equations, there is another approach to explain the acceleration of the universe. This corresponds to the modified gravity in which the gravitational theory is modified compared to GR. The Lagrangian density for GR is given by  $f(R) = R - 2\Lambda$ , where R is the Ricci scalar and  $\Lambda$  is the cosmological constant (corresponding to the equation of state w =-1). The presence of  $\Lambda$  gives rise to an exponential expansion of the universe, but we cannot use it for inflation because the inflationary period needs to connect to the radiation era. It is possible to use the cosmological constant for dark energy since the acceleration today does not need to end. However, if the cosmological constant originates from a vacuum energy of particle physics, its energy density would be enormously larger than the todays dark energy density. While the  $\Lambda$  Cold Dark Matter model  $(f(R) = R - 2\Lambda)$  fits a number of observational data well, there is also a possibility for the time-varying equation of state of dark energy [1], [41], [111], [112].

## 5.2 f(R) Models

Fourth-order theories of gravity have a long history, dating back to as early as 1918, only a few years after the first papers on General Relativity by Einstein. These theories generalise the Einstein-Hilbert action by adding additional scalar curvature invariants to the action, or by making the action a more general function of the Ricci scalar then the simple linear one that leads to Einstein's equations. Here we consider the latter of these options, a choice that leads by Lovelock's theorem to fourth-order field equations for anything except the addition of a constant term to the gravitational Lagrangian. Such theories, generically referred to as f(R) theories of gravity, have been intensively studied, and have a number of reviews dedicated to them. This interest was stimulated in the 1960s, 70s and 80s by the revelations that the quantization of matter fields in an un-quantized space-time can lead to such theories, that f(R) theories of gravity can have improved renormalisation properties, and that they can lead to a period of accelerating expansion early in the Universe's history. More recently they have been of considerable interest as a possible explanation for the observed late-time accelerating expansion of the Universe as we discussed above [1], [41].

The f(R) generalisations of Einstein's equations are derived from a Lagrangian density of the form[1]:

$$L = \sqrt{-g}f(R) \tag{163}$$

where the factor of  $\sqrt{-g}$  is included, as usual, in order to have the proper weight. This is clearly about as simple a generalisation of the Einstein-Hilbert density as one could possibly conceive of. The field equations derived from such an action are automatically generally covariant and Lorentz invariant for exactly the same reasons that Einstein's equations are. Unlike the Einstein-Hilbert term, however, the field equations that one obtains from the least action principle associated with Eq.(163) depend on the variational principle that one adopts[1]. Different possibilities are the metric variation where the connection is assumed to be the Levi-Civita one, the Palatini approach in which Eq.(163) is varied with respect to the metric and connection independently, and the metric-affine approach in which the same process occurs but the matter action is now taken to be a functional of the connection as well as the metric.

Hence the Einstein Hilbert Action[1],[33],[41] that we have already seen:

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g}R \tag{164}$$

becomes [1],[33],[41],[111],[112],[113],[114],[115]:

$$S_{EH} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f(R) \tag{165}$$

The above action provide us with the simplest modification[1] of GR, in which the Lagrangian density is just an arbitrary function of the Ricci Curvature Scalar.

#### Toy Models

The Standards Einstein gravity maybe modified at low curvature, by including the terms that are important precisely at low curvature. The simplest possibility is to consider a  $\frac{1}{R}$  term in the Einstein-Hilbert action. Carrol et al also suggested that such a theory maybe suitable to derive cosmological models with late accelerating phase. Although the the theory with with the  $\frac{1}{R}$  term in the Einstein's gravity accounts satisfactorily the present acceleration of the Universe, it is realised that inclusion of such terms in the Einstein-Hilbert action leads to instabilities[105].

Subsequently it has been shown that further addition of an  $R^2$  term or an  $\ln R$  term to the Einstein's gravitational action leads to consistent modified theory of gravity which may pass satisfactorily solar system tests, and fee from instability problems. It is known that the modified gravity with a positive power of the scalar curvature, namely  $R^2$ , in the EH action admits early inflation. In fact, the model  $f(R) = R + \alpha R^2$  leads to accelerated expansion of the Universe, and this was the first model of inflation proposed by Starobinsky in 1980. This model is well consistent with the temperature anisotropies observed in CMB and thus it can be a viable alternative to the scalar field models of inflation. Reheating after inflation proceeds by a gravitational particle production during the oscillating phase of the Ricci scalar [1], [41], [105], [111]. The modified gravity with negative powers of the curvature in the Einstein-Hilbert action is recently becoming popular as it

might effectively behave as a dark energy candidate. Consequently one such theory maybe able to describe the recent cosmic acceleration. Therefore it is reasonable to explore a theory which could accommodate an inflationary scenario at the early universe and an accelerating phase of expansion at late time followed by a matter dominated phase. As a result, the modified theory of gravity which contains both positive and negative powers of the Ricci Scalar R, with the general form of f(R) given by [105]:

$$f(R) = R + \alpha R^m + \beta \frac{1}{R^n} \tag{166}$$

where  $\alpha, \beta$  to represent coupling constants, with arbitrary constants m and n are considered for exploring cosmological models. It is known that the  $R^m$  term dominates and it permits power law inflation if  $1 \leq m \leq 2$ , in the large curvature limit.

For m=2 and  $\beta=0$  we get inflation as we have seen above[105]. Recently, in the law curvature limit, a number of f(R) models have been proposed in order to accommodate the universe with late acceleration using a modified gravity, namely,  $f(R) = R - \frac{\lambda}{R^n}$ , with n>0. In the metric approach, it was shown that the model is not suitable because it didn't permit a matter era. Recently it was also shown that the model  $f(R) = R + \alpha R^m$  is not cosmologically viable because it does not permit a consistent scenario accommodating a matter dominated era at late time with  $\alpha \sim t^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , but instead it permits a radiation dominated era with  $\alpha \sim t^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . On the other hand the  $R^m$  model does permit a matter dominated universe but it fails to connect to the late accelerating phase[105].

It was shown(see[105]) that the models of the type where Lagrangian density,  $f(R) = R - \frac{\lambda}{R^n}$  with  $n \not\in 0$  and  $f(R) = \alpha R^m$  with  $m \neq 1$  are not viable for a realistic cosmological scenario as they do not permit matter epoch although late acceleration can be realized. Recently, modified gravity with power law in R, i.e., f(R)-gravity is examined and found that a large class of models including  $R^m$  model does not permit matter dominated universe. Tsujikawa (see[105]) derived observational signature of f(R) dark energy models that satisfy cosmological and local gravity constraints fairly well. The modified f(R)-gravity is found to be consistent with realistic cosmology in some cases. However, no definite physical criteria known so far to select a particular kind of theory capable of matching the data at all scales. However, modified gravity namely,  $f(R) \sim e^R$  or  $\log R$  may be useful to build a viable cosmological model as they permit a matter dominated phase before an accelerating phase of expansion[105].

## 5.3 f(R) in The Metric Formalism

Beginning from the Einstein-Hilbert modified action Eq.(165) and adding a matter term  $S_M$ , then the total action for F(R) gravity becomes [1], [41], [106], [107], [111], [112], [113], [114], [115]:

$$S_{met} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f(R) + S_M(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi)$$
 (167)

where  $\psi$  denotes the matter fields. In the metric formalism we make a variation of the action with respect to the metric in order to obtain the field equations[1],[41],[106],[107],[111],[112],[113],[114],[115]:

$$f'(R)R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}f(R)g_{\mu\nu} - [\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}]f'(R) = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (168)

with the energy-momentum tensor[1],[41],[106],[107],[111],[112],[113],[114],[115]

to be given by:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_m}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \tag{169}$$

the prime denotes differentiation with respect to the argument,  $\nabla_{\mu}$  is the covariant derivative associated with the Levi-Civita connection, and  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the usual energy-momentum tensor.

It has to be stressed that there is a mathematical jump[41],[111] in deriving Eq.(168) from the action Eq.(167) having to do with the surface terms that appear in the variation: as in the case of the EinsteinHilbert action, the surface terms do not vanish just by fixing the metric on the boundary. For the EinsteinHilbert action, however, these terms gather into a total variation of a quantity. Therefore, it is possible to add a total divergence to the action in order to heal it and arrive to a well-defined variational principle (this is the well known GibbonsHawkingYork surface term (Gibbons and Hawking, 1977; York, 1972)). Unfortunately, the surface terms in the variation of the action Eq.(165) do not consist of a total variation of some quantity (the reader is urged to calculate the variation in order to verify this fact) and it is not possible to heal the action by just subtracting some surface term before performing the variation[41],[111].

The way out comes from the fact that the action includes higher order derivatives of the metric and, therefore, it should be possible to fix more degrees of freedom on the boundary than those of the metric itself[41],[111]. There is no unique prescription for such a fixing in the literature so far. Note also that the choice of fixing is not void of physical meaning, since it will be relevant for the Hamiltonian formulation of the theory. However, the field equations (168) would be unaffected by the fixing chosen and from a purely classical perspective, such as the one followed here, the field equations are all that one needs for a more detailed discussion on these issues]. Setting aside the complications of the variation we can now focus on the field equations (168). These are obviously fourth order partial differential equations in the metric, since R already includes second derivatives of the latter. For an action which is linear in R, the fourth order terms the last two on the left hand side vanish and the theory reduces to GR. Taking the trace of Eq.(168) leads to [41], [106], [111]:

$$f'(R)R - 2f(R) + 3\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}f'(R) = 8\pi GT$$
 (170)

where  $T=g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$  relates R with T differentially and not algebraically as in GR, where  $R=-8\pi GT$ . This is already an indication that the field equations of f(R) theories will admit a larger variety of solutions than Einsteins theory. As an example, we mention here that the Jebsen- Birkhoffs theorem[111], stating that the Schwarzschild solution is the unique spherically symmetric vacuum solution, no longer holds in metric f(R) gravity. Without going into details, let us stress that T=0 no longer implies that R=0, or is even constant.

Eq.(170) will turn out to be very useful in studying various aspects of f(R) gravity, notably its stability and weak-field limit. For the moment, let us use it to make some remarks about maximally symmetric solutions. Recall that maximally symmetric solutions lead to a constant Ricci scalar. For R = constant and  $T_{\mu\nu} = 0$ , Eq.(170) reduces to [41], [111]:

$$f'R - 2f(R) = 0 (171)$$

which, for a given f, is an algebraic equation in R. If R = 0 is a root of this equation and one takes this root, then Eq.(168) reduces to  $R_{\mu\nu} = 0$  and the maximally symmetric solution is Minkowski space-time. On the other hand, if the root of Eq.(171) is R = C, where C is a constant, then Eq.(168) reduces to  $R_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}C/4$  and the maximally symmetric solution is de Sitter or anti-de Sitter space depending on the sign of C, just as in GR with a cosmological constant.

Another issue that should be stressed is that of energy conservation. In metric f(R) gravity the matter is minimally coupled to the metric. One can, therefore, use the usual arguments based on the invariance of the action under diffeomorphisms of the space-time manifold [coordinate transformations followed by a pullback, with the field  $x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}$  vanishing on the boundary of the space-time region considered, leave the physics unchanged, see (Wald, 1984)] to show that  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is divergence-free. The same can be done at the level of the field equations: a brute force calculation reveals that the left hand side of Eq.(168) is divergence-free (generalized Bianchi identity) implying that  $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$  (Koivisto,2006)[41],[111],[112],[115].

Finally, let us note that it is possible to write the field equations in the form of Einstein equations with an effective stress-energy tensor composed of curvature terms moved to the right hand side[41],[111]. This approach is questionable in principle (the theory is not Einsteins theory and it is artificial to force upon it an interpretation in terms of Einstein equations) but, in practice, it has been proved to be useful in scalar-tensor gravity. Specifically, Eq.(168) can be written[111] as:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}}{f'(R)} + g_{\mu\nu} \frac{[f(R) - Rf'(R)]}{2f'(R)} + \frac{[\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}f'(R) - g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}f'(R)]}{f'(R)}$$
(172)

or 
$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi G}{f'(R)} (T_{\mu\nu} + T_{\mu\nu}^{(eff)})$$
 (173)

with

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(eff)} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} [g_{\mu\nu} \frac{f(R) - Rf'(R)}{2} + \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} f'(R) - g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla^{\mu} f'(R)] \quad (174)$$

here the quantity  $G_{eff} = \frac{G}{f'(R)}$  can be regarded as the effective gravitational coupling strength in analogy to what is done in scalar-tensor gravity and positivity of  $G_{eff}$  imposes that f'(R) > 0. Furthermore  $T_{\mu\nu}^{(eff)}$  is an effective stress-energy tensor which does not have the canonical form quadratic in the first derivatives of the field f'(R), but contains terms linear in the second derivatives. The effective energy density derived from it is not positive-definite and none of the energy conditions holds[41],[111].

## 5.4 f(R) in The Palatini Formalism

We have already mentioned that the Einstein equations can be derived using, instead of the standard metric variation of the EinsteinHilbert action, the Palatini formalism, i.e., an independent variation with respect to the metric and an independent connection (Palatini variation). The action is formally the same but now the Riemmann tensor and the Ricci tensor are constructed with the independent connection[1],[41],[111]. Note that the metric is not needed to obtain the latter from the former. For clarity of notation, we denote the Ricci tensor constructed with this independent connection as  $R_{\mu\nu}$  and the corresponding Ricci scalar is  $R = g^{\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu}$ . The action now takes the form[1],[41],[111],[112],[113],[114],[119]:

$$S_{pal} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f(R) + S_M(g_{\mu\nu}, \psi)$$
 (175)

We note that the matter action SM is assumed to depend only on the metric and the matter fields and not on the independent connection. This assumption is crucial for the derivation of Einsteins equations from the linear version of the action (175) and is the main feature of the Palatini formalism.

It has already been mentioned that this assumption has consequences for the physical meaning of the independent connection[1],[41],[111],[119]. Let us elaborate on this: recall that an affine connection usually defines parallel transport and the covariant derivative. On the other hand, the matter action  $S_M$  is supposed to be a generally covariant scalar which includes derivatives of the matter fields. Therefore, these derivatives ought to be covariant derivatives for a general matter field. Exceptions exist, such as a scalar field, for which a covariant and a partial derivative coincide, and the electromagnetic field, for which one can write a covariant action without the use of the covariant derivative. However,  $S_M$  should include all possible fields. Therefore, assuming that  $S_M$  is independent of the connection can imply one of two things[41],[111]: either we are restricting ourselves to specific fields, or we are implicitly assuming that it is the Levi-Civita connection of the metric that actually defines parallel transport. Since the first option is implausibly limiting for a gravitational theory, we are left with the conclusion that the independent connection  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  does not define parallel transport or the covariant derivative and the geometry is actually pseudo-Riemannian. The covariant derivative is actually defined by the Levi-Civita connection of the metric  $\{^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta}\}$ .

This also implies that Palatini f(R) gravity is a metric theory [1], [41], [111] in the sense that it satisfies the metric postulates (Will, 1981). Matter is minimally coupled to the metric and not coupled to any other fields. Once again, as in GR or metric f(R) gravity, one could use diffeomorphism invariance to show that the stress energy tensor is conserved by the covariant derivative defined with the Levi-Civita connection of the metric, i.e.,  $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}=0$  ( $\hat{\nabla}_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}\neq0$ ). This can also be shown by using the field equations, which we will present shortly, in order to calculate the divergence of  $T_{\mu\nu}$  with respect to the Levi-Civita connection of the metric and show that it vanishes. Clearly then, Palatini f(R) gravity is a metric theory according to the definition (not to be confused with the term metric in metric f(R) gravity, which simply refers to the fact that one only varies the action with respect to the metric). Conventionally thinking, as a consequence of the covariant conservation of the matter energy-momentum tensor, test particles should follow geodesics of the metric in Palatini f(R) gravity. This can be seen by considering a dust fluid with  $T_{\mu\nu} = \rho u_{\mu}u_{\nu}$  and projecting the conservation equation  $\nabla^{\alpha} T_{\alpha\beta} = 0$  onto the fluid four-velocity  $u^{\alpha}$ . Similarly, theories that satisfy the metric postulates are supposed to satisfy the Einstein Equivalence Principle as well(Will, 1981). Varying the action (175) independently with respect to the metric and the connection, respectively, and using the formula[41],[111],[119]:

$$\delta R_{\mu\nu} = \hat{\nabla}_{\lambda} \delta \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} - \hat{\nabla}_{\nu} - \delta \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\lambda} \tag{176}$$

gives

$$f'(R)R_{(\mu\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}f(R)g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (177)

$$-\hat{\nabla}_{\lambda}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\mu\nu}) + \hat{\nabla}_{\sigma}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\sigma(\mu)}\delta_{\lambda}^{\nu)} = 0$$
 (178)

where  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the usual energy momentum tensor,  $\hat{\nabla}_{\mu}$  denotes the covariant derivative defined with the independent connection  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $(\mu\nu)$ ,  $[\mu\nu]$  denotes symmetrisation or anti-symmetrisation over the indices  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  respectively. Taking now the trace of Eq.(178) we get[41],[111],[112],[113],[114],[119]:

$$\hat{\nabla}_{\alpha}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\alpha\mu}) = 0 \tag{179}$$

Hence the field equations can be written as [41], [111], [112], [113], [114], [119]:

$$f'(R)R_{(\mu\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}f(R)g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (180)

$$\hat{\nabla}_{\alpha}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\beta\mu}) = 0 \tag{181}$$

It is now easy to see how the Palatini formalism leads to GR when f(R)=R. In this case f'(R)=1 and Eq.(181) becomes the definition of the Levi-Civita connection for the initially independent connection  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ . Then,  $R_{\mu\nu}$  is the usual Ricci tensor and R the Ricci scalar and Eq.(180) gives the Einstein field equations. This reproduces the result that can be found in textbooks (Misner et al., 1973; Wald, 1984). Note that in the Palatini formalism for GR, the fact that the connection turns out to be the Levi-Civita one is a dynamical feature instead of an a priori assumption. It is now evident that generalizing the action to be a general function of R in the Palatini formalism is just as natural as it is to generalize the EinsteinHilbert action in the metric formalism. Remarkably, even though the two formalisms give the same results for linear actions, they lead to different results for more general actions[1],[41],[111],[112],[113],[114],[119].

Taking the trace of Eq. (180) we get [41], [111], [114], [119]:

$$f'(R)R - 2f(R) = 8\pi GT \tag{182}$$

For all cases in which T=0, including vacuum and electro-vacuum, R will therefore be a constant and a root of the equation:

$$f'(R)R - 2f(R) = 0 (183)$$

Eq.(183) can also be identically satisfied if  $f(R) \propto R^2$ . This very particular choice for f leads to a conformally invariant theory (Ferraris et al., 1992). As is apparent from Eq.(182),if  $f(R) \propto R^2$  then only conformally invariant matter, for which T=0 identically, can be coupled to gravity. Matter is not generically conformally invariant though, and so this particular choice of f is not suitable for a low energy theory of gravity[41],[111].

Consider now Eq.(181) and we define a metric conformal to  $g_{\mu\nu}$  such that [41], [111], [114], [119]:

$$h_{\mu\nu} = f'(R)g_{\mu\nu} \tag{184}$$

and therefore:

$$\sqrt{-h}h^{\mu\nu} = f'(R)\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu} \tag{185}$$

Then Eq.(181) becomes the definition of the Levi-Civita connection[41],[111],[114],[119] of  $h_{\mu\nu}$  and can be solved algebraically to give:

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} h^{\lambda\sigma} (\partial_{\mu} h_{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\nu} h_{\mu\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma} h_{\mu\nu}) \tag{186}$$

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{g^{\lambda\sigma}}{f'(R)} [\partial_{\mu}(f'(R)g_{\nu\sigma}) + \partial_{\nu}(f'(R)g_{\mu\sigma}) - \partial_{\sigma}(f'(R)g_{\mu\nu})]$$
(187)

The Ricci tensor transforms under conformal transformations [41], [111], [114], [119] as:

$$R_{\mu\nu} \to R_{\mu\nu} + \frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{(f'(R))^2} (\nabla_{\mu} f'(R)) (\nabla_{\nu} f'(R)) - \frac{1}{f'(R)} (\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha}) f'(R)$$
(188)

contracting with  $g_{\mu\nu}$  we then get:

$$R \to R + \frac{3}{2} \frac{1}{(f'(R))^2} (\nabla_{\mu} f'(R)) (\nabla^{\mu} f'(R)) + \frac{3}{f'(R)} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla^{\mu} f'(R)$$
 (189)

Plugging Eq.(188) and Eq.(189) into Eq.(180) we get:

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \frac{8\pi G}{f'} T_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} (R - \frac{f}{f'}) + \frac{1}{f'} (\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha}) f' - \frac{3}{2f'^2} [(\nabla_{\mu} f')(\nabla_{\nu} f') - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} (\nabla f')^2]$$
(190)

Notice that, assuming that we know the root of Eq.(182), R = R(T), we have completely eliminated the independent connection from this equation. Therefore, we have successfully reduced the number of field equations to one and at the same time both sides of Eq.(190) depend only on the metric and the matter fields. In a sense, the theory has been brought to the form of GR with a modified source. We can now deduce the following [41], [111], [114], [119]:

- If f(R)=R then the theory reduces to General Relativity
- For matter fields with T =0, due to Eq.(183),R and consequently f(R) and f'(R) are constants and the theory reduces to GR with a cosmological

constant and a modified coupling constant G/f'. If we denote the value of R when T = 0 as  $R_0$ , then the value of the cosmological constant is given by:

$$\frac{1}{2}(R_0 - \frac{f(R_0)}{f'(R_0)}) = \frac{R_0}{4} \tag{191}$$

• In the general case  $T \neq 0$ , the modified source on the right hand side of Eq.(190) includes derivatives of the stress-energy tensor, unlike in GR. These are implicit in the last two terms of Eq.(190), since f' is in practice a function of T, given that f' = f'(R) and R = R(T).

## 5.5 f(R) in The Metric-Affine Formalism

As we already pointed out, the Palatini formalism of f(R) gravity relies on the crucial assumption that the matter action does not depend on the independent connection[1],[41],[111]. We also argued that this assumption relegates this connection to the role of some sort of auxiliary field and the connection[41],[111]. carrying the usual geometrical meaning of the parallel transport and definition of the covariant derivative remains the Levi-Civita connection of the metric. As we have already discussed in Subsection 3.2, in metric-affine theories the metric and the connection are independent, as in the case of the Palatini Formalism, however in this metric-affine theories of gravity there is a direct coupling between matter and connection [1], [41], [111], as the action includes covariant derivative of matter fields with the covariant derivatives defined using the connection. Hence the matter action would be a function of the independent metric and connection and the matter fields  $S_M = S_M(g_{\mu\nu}, \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}, \psi)$ . We have seen the metric-affine action for gravity in Subsection 3.2, hence replacing R with f(R) the action is therefore[1],[41],[111],[112],[113],[117],[118]:

$$S_{ma} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f(R) + S_M(g_{\mu\nu}, \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}, \psi)$$
 (192)

In Subsection 3.2 we discussed in detail what is the general set-up for metric-affine theories of gravity. We know that in such a theory the metric and connection are independent, however, some part of the connection is still related to the metric, as the non-metricity tensor is set to be equal to zero. In this case the connection is left to be completely unconstrained and hence to be determined by the field equations [41], [111]. But leaving the connection completely unconstrained comes with some problems. Lets consider

the projective transformation[41],[111]:

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} \to \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} + \delta^{\lambda}_{\ \mu} \xi_{\nu} \tag{193}$$

where  $\xi_{\nu}$  is an arbitrary covariant vector field. It can be shown that the Ricci tensor transforms as [41], [111], [117], [118]:

$$R_{\mu\nu} \to R_{\mu\nu} - 2\partial_{[\mu}\xi_{\nu]} \tag{194}$$

However given that the metric is symmetric, this implies that the curvature scalar does not change and hence [41], [111], [117], [118]:

$$R \to R$$
 (195)

or in other words R is invariant under projective transformations. Therefore the Einstein-Hilbert action or any other action that is a function of R, as in our case, is projective invariant in metric-affine gravity However, the matter action is not generically projective invariant and this would be the cause of an inconsistency in the field equations. We could try to avoid this problem by generalizing the gravitational action in order to break projective invariance. This can be done in several ways, such as allowing for the metric to be non-symmetric as well, adding higher order curvature invariants or terms including the Cartan torsion tensor. However, if one wants to stay within the framework of f(R) gravity, which is our subject here, then there is only one way to cure this problem: to somehow constrain the connection. In fact, it is evident from Eq.(193) that, if the connection were symmetric, projective invariance would be broken[41],[111],[117],[118].

Lets see again what is the meaning of projective invariance, which is very similar to gauge invariance in the the theory of Electromagnetism. Projective invariance tells us that the corresponding field can be determined up to a projective transformation Eq.(193). In this case the field is just the connections. If we want to break this invariance we have to fix some degrees of freedom in the same way we do with gauge fixing. The number of degrees of freedom which we need to fix is obviously the number of the components of the four-vector used, for the transformation, i.e., simply four. This tells us that the connection satisfies some constraints but it cannot be assumed to be the most general connection we can construct [41], [111].

The degrees of freedom we need to fix is four and are related to the non-symmetric part of the connection. Then we should set[41],[111],[117],[118]:

$$S = S_{\mu} = S_{\sigma\mu}^{\quad \sigma} = 0 \tag{196}$$

without, of course, this to mean that the part of the connection  $\Gamma_{\mu} = S_{\sigma\mu}{}^{\sigma}$  must vanish, but mainly that  $\Gamma_{\mu} = S_{\sigma\mu}{}^{\sigma} = \Gamma_{\mu} = S_{\mu\sigma}{}^{\sigma}$  This constrained can be imposed by simply adding a Lagrange multiplier  $B^{\mu}$ . Hence the action for the most general metric-affine f(R) theory of gravity is given by:

$$S_{ma} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} f(R) + S_M(g_{\mu\nu}, \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}, \psi) + S_{LM}$$
 (197)

where  $S_{LM}$  is the action of the Lagrange Multiplier given by [41], [111], [117], [118]:

$$S_{LM} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} B^{\mu} S_{\mu} \tag{198}$$

We now vary the action independently with respect to the metric, connection, and lagrange Multiplier in order to get the field equations [41], [111], [112], [113], [117], [118]:

$$f'(R)R_{(\mu\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}f(R)g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (199)

$$\tfrac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}[-\hat{\nabla}_{\lambda}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\mu\nu})+\hat{\nabla}_{\sigma}(\sqrt{-g}f'(R)g^{\mu\sigma})\delta^{\nu}{}_{\lambda}]+2f'(R)(g^{\mu\nu}S_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\sigma}-g^{\mu\rho}S_{\rho\sigma}{}^{\sigma}\delta^{\nu}{}_{\lambda})$$

$$+g^{\mu\sigma}S_{\sigma\lambda}^{\ \nu}) = 8\pi G(\Delta_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu} - B^{[\mu}\delta_{\lambda}^{\nu]}) \tag{200}$$

$$S_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\sigma} = 0 \tag{201}$$

Where  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu}$  is called the hyper-momentum tensor and mimics the role of the energy-momentum tensor. Furthermore  $S_{\sigma\lambda}^{\ \nu}$  is the Cartan-Torsion tensor as discussed in Subsection3.2 and is equal to the anti-symmetric part of the connection. Taking the trace of Eq.(199) over the indices  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  and using Eq.(200) we have that [41], [111], [112], [113], [117], [118]:

$$B^{\mu} = \frac{2}{3} \Delta_{\sigma}^{\ \sigma\mu} \tag{202}$$

Hence we can now write the field equations as [41], [111], [112], [113], [117], [118]:

$$f'(R)R_{(\mu\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}f(R)g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}$$
 (203)

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \left[ -\hat{\nabla}_{\lambda} (\sqrt{-g} f'(R) g^{\mu\nu}) + \hat{\nabla}_{\sigma} (\sqrt{-g} f'(R) g^{\mu\sigma}) \delta^{\nu}_{\lambda} \right]$$

$$+2f'(R)g^{\mu\sigma}S_{\sigma\lambda}^{\ \nu} = 8\pi G(\Delta_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{3}\Delta_{\sigma}^{\sigma[\nu}\delta_{\lambda}^{\nu]})$$
 (204)

$$S_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\sigma} = 0 \tag{205}$$

By splitting Eq.(204) into a symmetric and an antisymmetric part and performing the appropriate contractions and manipulations we find that [41], [111], [117], [118]:

$$\Delta_{\lambda}^{[\mu\nu]} = 0 \Rightarrow S_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda} = 0 \tag{206}$$

Hence this has the two following implications[41],[111],[117],[118]:

- ullet Any torsion is introduced by matter fields for which  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{\ [\mu\nu]}$  is non-vanishing.
- Torsion is not propagating, since it is given algebraically in terms of the matter fields through  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{[\mu\nu]}$  It can, therefore, only be detected in the presence of such matter fields. In the absence of the latter, space-time will have no torsion.

Similarly we can use the symmetrized version of Eq.(204) to show that the symmetric part of the hyper-momentum  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{(\mu\nu)}$  is algebraically related to the non-metricity  $Q_{\mu\nu\lambda}$ . Therefore, matter fields with non-vanishing  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{(\mu\nu)}$  will introduce non-metricity. In this case things are slightly more complicated because part of the non-metricity is also due to the functional form of the Lagrangian itself. There are, however, certain types of matter fields for which  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu} = 0$  such as[41],[111],[117,[118]:

- •A scalar field, since in this case the covariant derivative can be replaced with a partial derivative. Therefore, the connection does not enter the matter action.
- The electromagnetic field (and gauge fields in general), since the electromagnetic field tensor  $F_{\mu\nu}$  is defined in a covariant manner using the exterior derivative. This definition remains unaffected when torsion is included.

On the contrary, particles with spin, such as Dirac fields, generically have a non-vanishing hyper-momentum and will, therefore, introduce torsion. A more complicated case is that of a perfect fluid with vanishing vorticity. If we set torsion aside, or if we consider a fluid describing particles that would initially not introduce any torsion then, as for a usual perfect fluid in GR, the matter action can be written in terms of three scalars: the energy density, the pressure, and the velocity potential. Therefore such a fluid will lead to a vanishing  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{\ \mu\nu}$ . However, complications arise when torsion is taken into account: Even though it can be argued that the spins of the individual particles composing the fluids will be randomly oriented, and therefore the expectation value for the spin should add up to zero, fluctuations around this value will affect space-time. Of course, such effects will be largely suppressed, especially in situations in which the energy density is small, such as late time cosmology[41],[111],[117],[118].

Because of Eq.(206) we can now see that the field equations of metric-affine f(R) gravity reduce to the field equations (177) and (178) of the Palatini f(R) gravity in the case where  $\Delta_{\lambda}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . Furthermore, in vacuum where the energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$  vanishes, the field equations of the Palatini f(R) gravity reduce to the Einstein Field equations with an effective cosmological constant [41], [111].

In conclusion, metric-affine f(R) gravity appears to be the most general case of f(R) gravity. It includes enriched phenomenology, such as matterinduced non-metricity and torsion. It is worth stressing that torsion comes quite naturally, since it is actually introduced by particles with spin (excluding gauge fields). The theory reduces to GR in vacuum or for conformally invariant types of matter, such as the electromagnetic field, and departs from GR in the same way that Palatini f(R) gravity does for most matter fields that are usually studied as sources of gravity. However, at the same time, it exhibits new phenomenology in less studied cases, such as in the presence of Dirac fields, which include torsion and non-metricity. Finally let us stretch that the Palatini f(R) gravity is really a metric theory in contrast with the metric-affine f(R) gravity which is not a metric theory. Therefore  $T^{\mu\nu}$  is not divergent free with respect to the covariant derivative defined with the Levi-Civita connection, in the metric-affine f(R) theory. Furthermore the physical meaning of the above statement is subtle as in metric-affine gravity  $T^{\mu\nu}$  does not have the usual meaning of the energy-momentum tensor as in GR, for instance, it does not reduce to the special relativistic tensor at an appropriate limit and at the same time there is also another quantity, the hyper-momentum, which describes matter characteristics[41],[111].

## 6 Summary-Conclusions

In this paper we have presented a detailed review of Einstein's theory of General Relativity which is the most successful theory of Gravity. We have reviewed the main principles that underlie this theory, the Einstein-Hilbert action from which we can derive the Einstein Field equations that describe the theory of General Relativity, and we have argued that GR is a classical theory that respects the principle of covariance, exhibits universal coupling to all matter fields, and satisfies the Einstein Field equations, a set of ten(10) non-linear PDE's. Hence if we deviate from the above axioms of GR then we have what we call modified gravity. We also presented the various astrophysical tests, such as the perihelion precession of mercury's orbit, the deflection of light by the sun, gravitational red-shift and others, that are used to test and actually verify the validity of the theory.

In Chapter we have examined different formulations of GR, such as the Palatini formalism, the Metric-Affine gravity, the Vierbein formalism, and briefly discussed a few others. We have seen that in order to derive the Einstein Field equations we make the assumptions of Riemannian geometry, the vanishing of torsion, and we also assume that the connection is metric compatible. Making a variation of the action with respect to the metric we obtain the Einstein Field equations. In the Palatini formalism, however, we don't immediately assume that the connection is metric compatible. As the matter of fact we assume that the connection and the metric are independent, but the matter is still coupled to the metric, and that R is a function of the connection and not the usual curvature scalar. Varying the action with respect to the metric we get that the connection is indeed the Levi-Civita connection, and varying the Einstein-Hilbert action with respect to the connection we get the Einstein's field equations. The Palatini procedure when dealing with the Einstein-Hilbert action is that we derive the compatibility os the connection with the metric rather than assume this.

One further procedure is to keep the metric and connection independent and this time allow matter to couple not only to the metric but also to the connection. We still assume exactly what we have assumed in the Palatini formalism, however, in this case there is an additional condition: Matter can couple to the connection. This is the Metric-Affine formalism. At the end we can derive the vanishing of torsion and non-metricity from the Einstein-Hilbert action and of course recover the Einstein field equations.

In general what we have seen so far is that if we consider the Einstein-Hilbert and use the metric formalism, or the Palatini and metric-affine formalisms, we get the same field equations, namely, Einstein's field equations. However, for alternative theories of gravity other than General Relativity, different procedures and formalisms, given different field equations.

We have also presented in Chapter a possible modification of GR, namely, Chern-Simons modified theory, that is second order in curvature and therefore plausible from a high energy perspective [33], [59]. We have shown that the CS correction arises naturally in the Standard Model as a gravitational (ABJ) anomaly-cancellation mechanism, and it further required in String Theory to cancel the Green-Schwarz anomaly [33], [59]. We have also shown that CS gravity has a preferred direction with respect to the gravity waves that are produced during inflation, hence the chiral anomaly works together with inflation to amplify the production of leptons, leading to a viable model of leptogenesis [33], [59], [68], [69]. We have seen that the CS modified gravity yields the same physics as does the Classical GR. For example, the Schwarzchild solution holds without any modification because the CS correction vanish for this space-time and hence the modified theory passes the three classical tests of GR: 1) Perihelion advance of Mercury 2) The bending of light by the Sun 3) The slowing down of clocks by gravity. Finally if the CS corrections are truly present in nature then they would be quantum suppressed and hence we need to examine in more detail the coupling strength in front of the CS correction that would be quantum suppressed at least at the electro-weak level, or even at Planck level[33].

In Chapter we have presented the very-well known modifications of GR, called f(R) theories of gravity as the gravitational part of the action is a function of the Ricci curvature scalar. This could be a linear function, or non-linear. There are several models examined in many papers, such as [111], where the reader can have a detailed review and analysis. We have presented some toy models, for example the  $R^2$  model admits early inflation, other models may admit early inflation or late acceleration or even both, but it depends on the model and the assumptions made. We have discussed f(R) theories of gravity in the metric formalism, the Palatini Formalism and the metric-affine formalism. The corresponding field equations depend on whether the theory is linear or not, in R. For example if f(R)=R in the Palatini formalism then this reduces identically to GR. It turns out that the metric-affine f(R) gravity is the most general case of f(R) theories. Matter induces torsion and non-metricity and hence an enriched phenomenology. In vacuum it reduces to GR, and deviates from GR the same way the Palatini f(R) gravity does for most matter fields that are considered to be sources of gravity. We have to emphasize the fact that the Palatini f(R) gravity is a metric theory, whether the metric-affine f(R) gravity is not.

## References

- [1] T.Clifton, P.G.Ferreira, A.Padilla, C.Skordis, Modified Gravity and Cosmology (2011), arXiv:1106.2476v1
- [2] Ray D'Inverno, Introducing Einstein's Relativity, Oxford University Press(2008)
- [3] B.F.Schutz, A First Course in General Relativity, Cambridge University Press (1985)
- [4] M.Born, Einstein's Theory of Relativity, Dover Publications (1962)
- [5] P.Dirac, General Theory of Relativity, Princeton University Press(1996)
- [6] A.G.Polnarev, Relativity and Gravitation, http://www.maths.qmul.ac.uk/agp/MTH720U/
- [7] H.Stephanie, D.Kramer, M.Maccalum, C.Hoenselders, E.Herlt, Exact Solutions of Einstein's Field Equations, Cambridge University Press(2003)
- [8] D.R.Lorimer, P.C.C Freire, New limits on the strong equivalence principle from two long-period circular-orbit binary systems(2004), arXiv:0404270v1
- [9] R.H.Dicke, The Theoretical Significance of Experimental Relativity(1966), American Journal of Physics, 34:369-370
- [10] S.Schlamminger, K.Choi, T.A.Wagner, J.H.Gundlach, E.G.Adelberger, Test of the Equivalence Principle Using a Rotating Torsion Balance(2008), Physical Review Letters, (1004):041101,0712.0607
- [11] R.V.Eotvos, D.Pekar, E.Fekete, Contributions to the Law of Proportionality of Inertia and Gravity(1922), Annalen. Phys, 68-11-66
- [12] P.Worden, R.Torri, J.C Mester, C.W.F. Everitt, The STEP Payload and Experiment. Advantages in Space Research(2000), 25:1205-1208
- [13] A.Einstein, The foundation of the general theory of relativity(1916). Annalen Phys, 49:769-822

- [14] M.Haugan, Energy Conservation and the Principle of Equivalence (1979). Annalen Phys, 118:156-186
- [15] A.Bauch, S.Weyers, New experimental limit on the validity of local position invariance(2002). Annalen Phys, 65(8):081101
- [16] V.W.Hughes, H.G.Robinson, V.Beltran-Lopez, Upper Limit for Anisotropy of Inertial Mass from Nuclear Resonance Experiments (1960). Physical review letters, 4:342-344
- [17] R.W.P.Drever, A search for anisotropy of inertial mass using a free precession technique(1961). Philosophical Magazine, 6:683:687
- [18] S.K.Lamoreaux, J.P.Jacobs, B.R Heckel, F.J.Raab, E.N Fortson, New limits on spatial anisotropy from optically-pumped 201-Hg and 199-Hg(1986). Physical Review Letters, 57:3125-3128
- [19] T.E.Chupp, R.J.Hoare, R.A.Loreman, E.R.Oteiza, J.M.Richardson, M.E.Wagshul, A.K.Thompson, Results of a new test of Local Lorentz Invariance: A Search for mass anisotropy in 21-Ne(1989). Physical Review Letters, 63:1541-1545
- [20] J.Uzan, The fundamental constants and their variation: Observational and Theoretical Status(2003). Reviews of Modern Physics, 75:403-455, arXiv:hep-ph/0205340
- [21] C.M.Will, An Einstein Centenary Survey(1979)
- [22] http://www.damtp.cam.ac.uk/user/tong/dynamics/class.pdf
- [23] A.Einstein, On the influence of gravitation on the propagation of light(1911), Annalen Phys, 35:898-908
- [24] S.S.Shapiro, J.L.Davis, D.E.Leboch, J.S.Gregory, Measurement of the Solar Gravitational Deflection of Radio Waves using Geodesic very-long-Baseline Interferometry data(1979)
- [25] U.J. Le Verrier, Theorie DU movement de Mercure(1859). Annales de l'observatoire de Paris 5:1
- [26] S.Pireaux, J.Rozelot, Solar quadrope moment and purely relativistic gravitational contributions to Mercury's Perihelion advance(2003), arXiv:astro-ph/0109032
- [27] J.Lense, H.Thirring, Uber den Einflub der Eigenrotation der Zentralkorper auf die Bewegung der Planeten und Monde nach der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie(1918). Physikalische Zeitschrift, 19:156

- [28] H.Thirring, Uber die Wirkung rotierender ferner Massen in der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie(1918). Physikalische Zeitschrift, 19:33
- [29] I.Giufolini, E.C.Pavlis, A confirmation of the general relativistic prediction of the Lense-Thirring effect (2004). Nature, 431:958-960
- [30] L.Lorio, On the reliability of the Solar performed tests for measuring the Lense-Thirring effect with the LAGEOS satellites (2005). New Astronomy, 10:603-615, arXiv:gr-qc/0411024
- [31] C.W.P.Everitt et al, In Gravity Probe B Science Results-Final NASA Report(2008)
- [32] A.Hewish et.al, Observation of a rapidly pulsating radio source(1968), Nature, 217:709-713
- [33] S.Alexander, N.Yunes, Chern-Simons Modified General Relativity(2009), arXiv:gr-qc/0907.2562v3
- [34] Peter Peldan, Actions for Gravity, with Generalizations: A Review (1993), arXiv:gr-qc/9305011v1
- [35] Evan Rosenthal, Extended Palatini action for General Relativity, Physical Review D. 80:0840029
- [36] A.Palatini, Deduzione invariantiva deUe equazioni gravitationali dal principio di Hamilton(1919). Rend.Circ.Mat.Palermo, 43:203
- [37] Joseph Katz, Gideon I. Livshits, Affine Gravity, Palatini Formalism and Charges (2011), arXiv:1108.0942v1
- [38] M.Mortonson, Modified Gravity Theories in the Palatini Approach and Observational Constraints(2006)
- [39] F.W.Kehl, D.G.Kertick, Metric-Affine Variational Principles in General Relativity (1978). General Relativity and Gravitation, 9:691-710
- [40] Vincenzo Vitagliano, T.P.Sotiriou, Stefano Liberati, The dynamics of metric affine gravity(2011), arXiv:1008.0171v2
- [41] T.P.Sotiriou, Modified Action of Gravity: Theory and Phenomenology(2007), arXiv:0710.4438v1
- [42] R.M.Wald, General Relativity, University of Chicago Press(1984)
- [43] S.Deser, C.J.Isham, Canonical Vierbein form of General Relativity(1976) Physical Review D, 14:10

- [44] T.Mei, On the vierbein formalism of general relativity(2011), arXiv:0707.2639
- [45] J.F.Plebanski, On the separation of Einsteinian substructures (1997). Journal of Mathematical Physics, 18:2511-2520
- [46] A.S.Eddington, The Mathematical Theory of Relativity (1923)
- [47] R.Jackiw, S.Y.Pi, Chern-Simons Modification of General Relativity (2003), arXiv:gr-qc/0308071v2
- [48] N.Yunes, F.Pretorius, Dynamical Chern-Simons Modified Gravity I: Spinning black Holes in Slow-Rotation Approximation(2009), arXiv:0902.4669v3
- [49] D.Grumiller, R.Mann, R.McNees, Dirichlet Boundary Value Problem for Chern-Simons Modified Gravity(2008), arXiv:0803.1485v2
- [50] U.Ertem, Generalised Chern-Simons Modified Gravity in First-Order Formalism(2009), arXiv:0912.1433v1
- [51] H.Ahmedov, A.N.Aliev, Black String and Godel type Solutions of Chern-Simons Modified Gravity(2010), arXiv:1003.6017v1
- [52] H.Ahmedov, A.N.Aliev, Decoupling and Reduction in Chern-Simons Modified Gravity(2010), arXiv:1003.3148v2
- [53] S.Alexander, N.Yunes, Chern-Simons Modified Gravity in a Torsion-Theory and its interaction with Fermions (2008), arXiv:0804.1797v1
- [54] D.Grumiller, N.Yunes, How do Black Holes Spin in Chern-Simons Modified Gravity?(2007), arXiv:0711.1868
- [55] K.Fujikawa, Path Integral Measure for Gauge Invariant Fermion Theories (1975), Phys.Rev.Lett.42.1195
- [56] K.Fujikawa, Path Integral for Gauge Theories with Fermions(1980), Phys.Rev.D21.2848
- [57] J.S.Bell, R.Jackiw, A PCAC puzzle:  $\pi^0 \to \gamma \gamma$  in the sigma model(1969), Nuovo Cim. A60 47-61
- [58] S.L.Adler, Axial-Vector Vertex in Spinor Electrodynamics, Physical Review 177 (1969) 2426-2438. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.177.2426
- [59] N.Nikolaev, Chern-Simons Modified Gravity (2009)

- [60] S.Cecotti, S.Ferrara, L.Girandello, M.Porrati, Phys. Lett. 164B, 46 (1985)
- [61] D. Boulware, S.Deser, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55(24), 2656 (1985)
- [62] M.Kamionkowski, How to De-Rotate the Cosmic Microwave Background Polarization(2009), arXiv:0810.1286v2
- [63] V.Gluscevic, M.Kamionskowski, A.Cooray, De-Rotation of the Cosmic Microwave Background Polarization: Full Sky Formalism (2009), arXiv: 0905.1687v2
- [64] D.Maity, P.Chen, Cosmological Behavior of a Parity and Charge-Parity Violating Varying Alpha Theory(2010), arXiv:1005.5104v1
- [65] U.Seljak, M.Zaldarriaga, Signature of Gravity Waves in Polarization of the Microwave Background (1997), arXiv:astro-ph/9609169v2
- [66] B.Nodland, Is the Universe Birefringent? http://www.aip.org/png/html/birefrin.htm (1997)
- [67] M.Kamionskowski, Non-Uniform Cosmological Birefringence and Active Galactic Nuclei(2010), arXiv:1004.3544v2
- [68] S.Alexander, M.Peskin, M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Leptogenesis from Gravity Waves in Models of Inflation(2004), arXiv:hep-th/0403069v3
- [69] S.Alexander, M.Peskin, M.M.Sheikh-Jabbari, Gravity-Leptogenesis: Leptogenesis from Gravity Waves in Pseudo-scalar Driven Inflation Models (2007),arXiv:0701139v1
- [70] N.J.Miller, M.Shimon, B.G.Keating, CMB Polarization Systematics Due to Beam Assymetry: Impact on Cosmological Birefringence(2009), arXiv:0903.1116v2
- [71] S.Alexander, Is cosmic parity violation responsible for the anomalies in the WMAP data?(2006), arXiv:hep-th/0601034v3
- [72] K.DeXing, L.KeFeng, Time-Periodic solutions of the Einstein's equations I: general framework(2009)
- [73] D.R.Lorimer, P.C.C Freire, New limits on the strong equivalence principle from two long-period circular-orbit binary systems (2004), arXiv:astro-ph/0404270v1
- [74] K. Myneni, Symmetry Destroyed: The Failure of Parity (1984), http://ccreweb.org/documents/parity/parity.html

- [75] K.Land, J.Magueijo, The axis of evil (2005), arXiv:astro-ph/0502237v2
- [76] R.Nave, Birefrigent Materials, http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/phyopt/biref.html (2000)
- [77] B.Amos, Birefringence for facetors I: what is birefringence? (2005)
- [78] A.Lue, L.Wang, M.Kamionkowski, Cosmological Signature of New Parity-Violating Interactions (1999), arXiv:astro-ph/9812088v2
- [79] D.Maity, S.SenGupta, S.Sur, Observable signals in a string insiped axion-dilaton background and Randall-Sundrum scenario (2005), arXiv:hep-th/0507210
- [80] P.Huet, E.Sather, Electroweak Baryogenesis and Standard Model CP (1994), arXiv:hep-ph/4904302v1
- [81] P.Anastasopoulos, M.Bianchi, E.Dudas, E.Kiritsis, Anomalies-Anomalous U(1)'s and generalized Chern-Simons terms (2006), arXiv:hep-th/0605225v2
- [82] P.Anastasopoulos, Anomalous U(1)'s, Chern-Simons couplings and the Standard Model (2007), arXiv:hep-th/0701114v2
- [83] I.L.Buchbinder, S.D.Odintsov, I.Shapiro, Effective Action in Quantum Gravity (1992), CRC Press
- [84] M.Green, J.Schwarz, Phys. Lett. 149B, 117 (1984)
- [85] S.Alexander, N.Yunes, A new PPN parameter to test Chern-Simons gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 241101, arXiv:hep-th/0703265
- [86] S.Alexander, N.Yunes, Parametrized Post-Newtonian Expansion of Chern-Simons Gravity (2007), arXiv:hep-th/0704.0299
- [87] T.L.Smith, A.L.Erickeek, R.R.Caldwell, M.Kamionkowski, The effects of Chern-Simons gravity on bodies orbiting earth (2008), arXiv:0708001v2
- [88] I.Ciufolini, Gravitomagnetism, Frame-Dragging and Lunar Laser Ranging (2007), arXiv:0704.3338
- [89] C.M.Will, Covariant Calculation of General Relativistic effects in an Orbiting Gyroscope Experiment (2003), arXiv:gr-qc/0212069
- [90] K.Konno, T.Matsuyama, Y.Asano, S.Tanda, Flat rotation curves in Chern-Simons modified gravity (2008), arXiv:0807.0679

- [91] N.Yunes, D.N.Spergel, Double Binary Pulsar Test of Dynamical Chern-Simons Modified Gravity (2008), arXiv:0810.5541
- [92] M.Burgay, et.al., An increased estimate of the merger rate of double neutron stars from observations of a highly relativistic system (2003), arXiv:astro-ph/0312071
- [93] R.A. Hulse, J.H.Taylor, Discovery of a pulsar in a binary system (1975), Astrophys. J. 195 L51-L53
- [94] M.Kramer, et.al., Tests of general relativity from timing the double pulsar (2006), arXiv:astro-ph/0609417
- [95] V.C.Rubin, W.K.J. Ford, Rotation of the Andromeda Nebula from a Spectroscopic Survey of Emission Regions (1970)
- [96] V.C.Rubin, N.Thonnard, W.K.Ford, Rotational properties of 21 SC galaxies with a large range of luminosities and radii, Astroph. J. 238 (1980) 471.
- [97] S.Alexander, L.S.Finn, N.Yunes, A gravitational-wave probe of effective quantum gravity (2007), arXiv:0712.2542
- [98] P.Bender, et.al., Laser Interferometer Space Antenna for the Detection and Observation of Gravitational Waves: An International Project in the Field of Fundamental Physics in Space, Lisa Pre-Phase A Report, (1998)
- [99] K.Danzmann, LISA-an ESA cornestone mission for a gravitational wave observatory (1997), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/14/6/002
- [100] K.Danzmann, A.Rudiger, LISA technology-Concept, status, prospects, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) S1-S9
- [101] T.J.Summer, D.N.A.Shaul, The Observations of Gravitational Waves from Space using LISA, MPLA 19 (11) (2004) 785-800
- [102] L.S.Finn, Detection, measurement and gravitational radiation (1992), arXiv:gr-qc/9209010
- [103] L.S.Finn, D.F.Chernoff, Observing binary inspiral in gravitational radiation: One interferometer (1993), arXiv:gr-qc/9301003
- [104] C.F.Sopuerta, N.Yunes, Extreme and Intermediate-Mass Ratio Inspirals in Dynamical Chern-Simons Modified Gravity (2009), arXiv:0904.4501 bibitem104 L.Iorio, An alternative derivation of the periodical and secular Lense-Thirring effect on the orbit of a test body (2001), arXiv:gr-qc/9908080

- [105] B.C.Paul, P.S.Debnath, S.Ghose, Accelerating Universe in Modified Theories of Gravity(2009), arXiv:0904.0345v1
- [106] F.Lobo, The dark side of gravity: Modified theories of gravity(2009), arXiv:0807.1640v1
- [107] S.Tsujikawa, Modified gravity models of dark energy(2010), arXiv:1101.0191v1
- [108] S.Unnikrishman, S.Tsakur, T.R.Seshadri, Can f(R) gravity mimic dark energy with constant equation of state parameter?(2011), arXiv:1106.6353v1
- [109] S.Asgari, R.Saffari, A Deep Dive into f(R) Gravity Theory(2011), arXiv:1101.2132.v3
- [110] S.Nojiri, S.D.Odintsov, Dark Energy, inflation and dark matter from modified f(R) gravity(2008), arXiv:0807.0685v1
- [111] T.P.Sotiriou, V.Faraoni, f(R) Theories of Gravity(2010), arXiv:0805.1726v4
- [112] A.De Felice, S.Tsujikawa, f(R) Theories(2010), arXiv:10024928v2
- [113] S.Capozzielo, M. De Laurentis, Extended theories of gravity(2011), arXiv:1108.6266v2
- [114] V.Vitagliano, T.P.Sotiriou, S.Liberati, The Dynamics of Generalised Palatini Theories of Gravity(2010), arXiv:1007.3937v2
- [115] T.P.Soririou, f(R) gravity, torsion and non-metricity(2009), arXiv:0904.2774v2
- [116] T.P.Soririou, 6+1 lessons from f(R) gravity(2008), arXiv:0810.5594v1
- [117] T.P.Sotiriou, S.Liberati, The metric-affine formalism in f(R) gravity(2006), arXiv:gr-qc/0611040v1
- [118] T.P.Soririou, S.Liberati, Metric-Affine Theories of Gravity(2007), arXiv:gr-qc/0604006v2
- [119] T.P.Sotiriou, Constraining f(R) gravity in the Palatini formalism(2006), arXiv:gr-qc/0512017v2